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Paul Robinson

From: Cutts, Tim [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: 22 April 2016 15:16 
To: Colin Wilson; Darren Richards; Crane Anne; Welch Mark; 'Porter Chris'; Floyd Priya; Thomas Tim; Tina Jadav; 
'Talbot, Emma' 
Cc: McNab, Doug 
Subject: Draft addendum to s106 SPD 

 

 
 

 
 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

   
  

  

 

Tim 

Tim Cutts  

Team Leader  
Planning Policy team  
Chief Executive's Department  
5th Floor, Hub 4  
Southwark Council  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX  



Draft addendum to the Section 106 Planning Obligations and CIL SPD (2015) 

May 2016 
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Paul Robinson

From: Cutts, Tim [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: 18 May 2016 17:37 
To: Tina Jadav 
Cc: Darren Richards 
Subject: RE: OKR AAP - latest draft 

From: Cutts, Tim  
Sent: Wednesday, May 18, 2016 5:36 PM 
To: Tina Jadav 
Cc: Darren Richards 
Subject: OKR AAP - latest draft 

Hi Tina 

Attached is the latest draft of the AAP. I still need to make some amendments which explain “the journey”. We are 
meeting TfL again on Mon or Tues to talk more about interim transport measures and will beef that up following 
that meeting. There are also some updates to the diagrams still needed and a bit more work on the character area 
section to tie things together in the way you suggested. 

Our deadline for finalising everything is 26th. 

Tim 

Tim Cutts  

Team Leader  
Planning Policy team  
Chief Executive's Department  
5th Floor, Hub 4  
Southwark Council  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX  

Address for visitors: 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
Tel: 020 7525   

www.southwark.gov.uk 



Draft Old Kent Road Area Action 
Plan/Opportunity Area Planning 

Framework 

May 2016 



Exempt - Regulation 12 (4)(d)
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Paul Robinson

From: Celeste Giusti
Sent: 04 July 2016 15:42
To: Brianne Stolper; Darren Richards; Gerard Burgess; Peter Heath
Subject: FW: Old Kent Road planning policy consultation update

Hi all 

We’ve received notification of the consultation of the AAP and other documents for the Old Kent Road. 

The consultation closes on 23rd September, but could you please provide comments by 26th August in case there are 
any issues we need to run past the new Mayoral advisor and/or the Mayor. 

Thanks 

Celeste 

Celeste Giusti  
Principal Strategic Planner  
London Plan Team 
Development, Enterprise and Environment  
Greater London Authority  

020 7983 

From: planningadmin  
Sent: 04 July 2016 15:10 
To: Celeste Giusti 
Subject: FW: Old Kent Road planning policy consultation update 

From: Southwark Council [mailto:Southwark-Council@public.govdelivery.com]  
Sent: 04 July 2016 15:04 
To: planningadmin 
Subject: Old Kent Road planning policy consultation update 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

1. Draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan
2. Preliminary Draft Community Infrastructure Levy
3. Draft addendum to the Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy Supplementary Planning Document
4. Southwark Council’s "Regulation 123" list

I am writing to notify you about the above matters. 

1. Draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan

We are now consulting on the draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan. The plan will guide and manage new 
development and growth in the area over the next 20 years. The plan aims to create a new high street environment for 
the Old Kent Road, with significant public transport improvements supported by mixed use development behind the 
road. This will incorporate around 20,000 new homes, including affordable homes, 5,000 new jobs, community 
facilities and green spaces. The plan includes the potential for extending the Bakerloo Line from Elephant and Castle 
towards Lewisham with two new stations along the Old Kent Road. The plan will be used to make planning decisions 
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in the area and to coordinate and deliver the regeneration strategy.

2. Community Infrastructure Levy Preliminary Draft Charging Schedule
3. Draft addendum to the Section 106 and Community Infrastructure levy Supplementary Planning Document
4. Southwark Council’s “Regulation 123” list

Alongside the draft Old Kent Road plan we are consulting on a revised Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
preliminary draft charging schedule and a draft addendum to the adopted Section 106 Planning Obligations and CIL 
supplementary planning document (SPD). Both of these documents relate to securing funding for the transport 
infrastructure (including the Bakerloo Line extension) that is needed in the Old Kent Road area to support the planned 
growth. We are also proposing to amend the “Regulation 123 List” which sets out what infrastructure will not be funded 
through section 106 planning obligations. Infrastructure identified on the list may be funded partly or wholly by CIL. 

Where to view the documents 

The draft AAP, the proposed changes to the adopted policies map, the preliminary draft charging schedule, the draft 
SPD addendum, the revised "Regulation 123 List" plan and supporting documents can be viewed at the locations 
listed below. They are also available to view on our website: http://www.southwark.gov.uk/oldkentroadaap 

How to get involved 

Consultation on the draft AAP, the proposed changes to the adopted policies map, the preliminary draft charging 
schedule, SPD addendum and "Regulation 123 List" will take place between 17 June 2016 and 23 September 2016. 
All comments must be received by 5pm on Friday 23 September 2016. 

We will be holding and attending events throughout the consultation period. The next Old Kent Road Community 
Forum events will be held on: 

 Monday 18 July 2016 at Walworth Academy, Shorncliffe Road, London SE1 5UJ
 Wednesday 14 September 2016 at New Covenant Church, 506-510 Old Kent Rd, London

SE1 5BA

We will also be holding an Old Kent Road Young People’s Workshop on Wednesday 7 September from 4.30pm to 
7pm at New Covenant Church, 506-510 Old Kent Rd, London SE1 5BA. 

You can also join the conversation about the Old Kent Road online. 

Please keep up to date by visiting our website to find out about events. If you would like us to attend your local group 
meeting please contact the planning policy team. 

You can comment on the documents by: 

Visiting our Consultation Hub and filling in our online questionnaire (details on the website above) or by sending 
comments by: 

 E-mail: planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk
 Post: FREEPOST SE1919/14 Planning Policy, Chief Executive’s Department, London SE1P

5EX

List of locations where documents are available for inspection: 

Council offices (on request), 160 Tooley Street, SE1 2QH  
(Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday: 9am to 5pm) 
Blue Anchor Library: Market Place, Southwark Park Road, SE16 3UQ 
(Monday; Tuesday & Thursday 09:00 – 19:00, Friday 10:00 – 18:00, Saturday 09:00 – 17:00) 
Canada Water Library: 21 Surrey Quays Road, SE16 7AR 
(Monday – Friday 09:00 – 20:00, Saturday 09:00 - 17:00, Sunday 12:00- 16:00) 
East Street Library: 168-170 Old Kent Road, SE1 5TY 
(Monday & Thursday 10:00 – 19:00, Tuesday 10:00 – 18:00, Saturday 10:00 – 17:00) 
Peckham Library: 122 Peckham Hill Street, SE15 5JR 
(Monday, Tuesday, Thursday & Friday 09:00 – 20:00, Wednesday 10:00 – 20:00, Saturday 10:00 – 17:00, Sunday 
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12:00 – 16:00) 

To stop receiving any further planning policy notification emails, please email 
planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk with the subject line “unsubscribe” 

This email was sent to planningadmin@london.gov.uk using GovDelivery, on behalf of: Southwark Council · 
PO BOX 64529 · London SE1P 5LX 

R m   m  
P
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Paul Robinson

From: planningadmin
Sent: 04 November 2016 15:20
To: Brianne Stolper
Subject: FW: Advanced notice of consultation: New Southwark Plan Area Visions and Site 

Allocations

From: Southwark Council [mailto:Southwark-Council@public.govdelivery.com]  
Sent: 04 November 2016 15:07 
To: planningadmin 
Subject: Advanced notice of consultation: New Southwark Plan Area Visions and Site Allocations 

Dear Sir/Madam 

We are currently preparing a new local development plan for Southwark called the New Southwark Plan. Last year we 
consulted on proposed area visions alongside potential development sites. 

We have taken all comments that were submitted during this consultation into account and we are currently preparing 
a preferred option for a 12 week consultation commencing in early 2017. 

The preferred option consultation will set out proposed development requirements for key potential development sites 
alongside the development strategy for Southwark’s distinct areas. We welcome any further comments relating to area 
visions or potential development sites submitted before 1 December 2016 which will be taken into account in the 
drafting of the preferred option consultation document. 

The proposed area visions will cover development aspirations relating to the following themes: 

 Character
 Heritage
 Transport and accessibility
 The local economy
 Public spaces and buildings
 Growth opportunities
 Sub-areas with unique character

Proposed site allocations will set out development requirements for key potential development. For example, a 
proposed site allocation may be required to provide new public open space as part of any future redevelopment. 

Please submit any comments you would like to be considered prior to the preferred option consultation by email to 
planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk. 
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Kind regards, 

Planning Policy Team 

Southwark Council 

planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk 

0207 525 5471 

If you have subscribed to planning policy updates by opting in on your MySouthwark profile, you can 
updpate your subscriptions or email address, or stop subscriptions at any time by logging into your 

MySouthwark account. If you are not opted in receive these email udates via MySouthwark and would like 
to stop receiving them, email the planning policy team at planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk 

This email was sent to planningadmin@london.gov.uk using GovDelivery, on behalf of: Southwark Council · 
PO BOX 64529 · London SE1P 5LX 

m   m  
P
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Paul Robinson

From: Darren Richards
Sent: 12 February 2016 16:48
To: Celeste Giusti
Subject: Fw: Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF Consultation on Integrated Impact Assessment Scoping 

Report
Attachments: OKR AAP Integrated Impact Assessment Scoping Report Feb 2016.pdf

Hi Celeste 
Who is the IIA lead, and could they have a look at this? 

Thanks 
Darren 

From: Tina Jadav  
Sent: Friday, February 12, 2016 04:42 PM 
To: Paul Harper; Darren Richards  
Subject: FW: Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF Consultation on Integrated Impact Assessment Scoping Report 

fyi 

From: Hills, Laura [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: 12 February 2016 16:41 
To: Elliot Kemp; ' tfl.gov.uk'; Tina Jadav; Gerard Burgess 
Subject: Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF Consultation on Integrated Impact Assessment Scoping Report 

Dear All, 

OLD KENT ROAD AREA ACTION PLAN – CONSULTATION ON INTEGRATED IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT SCOPING REPORT 

Southwark Council is currently consulting on the Scoping Report for the Integrated Impact Assessment of 
Southwark’s emerging Old Kent Road Area Action Plan/Opportunity Area Planning Framework. An
Integrated Impact Assessment is a method of estimating the possible implications, intended and
unintended, of the emerging Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF policies. It will examine how the emerging policy
options may affect the communities in the area. The aim of the Integrated Impact Assessment is to make
recommendations to enhance potential positive outcomes and minimise negative impacts of a policy.  The 
Scoping Report contains: 

 Baseline information regarding key environmental, social and economic matters relevant in the
opportunity area

 A review of the relevant plans, strategies and legislation. A framework for undertaking the
Integrated Impact Assessment, setting out sustainability, health and equality objectives, decision
making criteria and indicators that will be used to measure the impacts of the Old Kent Road
AAP/OAPF policy options upon sustainable development, equalities and health.

 The baseline information and the relevant information contained within the relevant plans, strategies
and legislation which will be taken into account in the preparation of the Old Kent Road
AAP/OAPF.

We are consulting on the Scoping Report for a period of 5 weeks, between 12 February and 18 March
2016. I have attached a copy for your reference. If you have any questions about the Scoping Report,
please do not hesitate to contact me. Please send us any comments you may have by 5pm on 18 March 
2016.   

More information on the preparation of the Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF can be found on our website at: 
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/info/856/planning policy/3112/old kent road 
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Kind regards, 

Laura Hills 

Senior Planning Policy Officer  
Planning Policy team  
Chief Executive's Department  
5th Floor, Hub 2  
Southwark Council  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX  

Address for visitors: 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
Tel: 020 7525 

www.southwark.gov.uk 

The email you received and any files transmitted with it are confidential, may be covered by legal and/or 
professional privilege and are intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are 
addressed. If you have received this in error please notify us immediately. If you are not the intended 
recipient of the email or the person responsible for delivering it to them you may not copy it, forward it or 
otherwise use it for any purpose or disclose its contents to any other person. To do so may be unlawful. 
Where opinions are expressed in the email they are not necessarily those of Southwark Council and 
Southwark Council is not responsible for any changes made to the message after it has been sent.  



OLD KENT ROAD AREA 
ACTION PLAN/ 
OPPORTUNITY AREA 
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INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
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1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 
 
1.1. Summary 
 

 
Figure 1.1 Draft Opportunity Area Boundary 
 
1.1.1. This scoping report has been produced as part of the Integrated Impact 

Assessment (IIA) of the Old Kent Road Area Action Plan (AAP)/Opportunity 
Area Planning Framework (OAPF). The plan relates to the opportunity area 
shown in Figure 1.1. The AAP/OAPF for the Old Kent Road will provide a 
vision and policies to guide development over 20 years and will be used as a 
focus for investment and to help make decisions on planning applications. IIA 
is a method of assessing the possible implications, intended and unintended, 
of the emerging AAP/OAPF policies. It will examine how a proposal may 
affect the communities in Southwark and how these effects may be distributed 
amongst different groups within the community. The aim of IIA is to make 
recommendations to enhance potential positive outcomes and minimise 
negative impacts of a policy.  IIA is most effective when used as early as 
possible in the development of policies. 

 
1.1.2. Sustainability Appraisals (SA) are a requirement of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) and Strategic Environmental Assessments 
(SEA) are required by European Directive EC/2001/42, which was transposed 
into UK law by the Environmental Assessment Regulations for Plans and 
Programmes (July 2004). The council has chosen to integrate the Health 
Impact Assessment (HIA) and Equalities Analysis (EqIA) processes with the 
overarching SA/SEA process to allow for a single joint appraisal to be carried 
out. Requirements of the Habitats Assessment Regulations (Habitats 
Regulation Assessment HRA) will be provided separately.  

 
1.1.3. The scoping report contains baseline information regarding key 

environmental, social and economic matters relevant in the borough and likely 
to be effected by the AAP/OAPF. It also includes a review of the relevant 
plans, strategies and legislation, set out in accordance with their spatial 
significance and grouped accordingly as International, National, Regional and 
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Local.  The baseline information and the relevant information contained within 
the relevant documents will be taken into account in the preparation of the 
next stage of the Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF Preferred Option and its IIA.   

1.1.4. The scoping report also establishes a framework for undertaking the IIA, and 
sets out the sustainability, health and equalities objectives, decision making 
criteria and potential indicators that will be used to measure the impacts of the 
AAP/OAPF. The IIA will allow stakeholders to quickly identify positive and 
negative impacts which otherwise might not come to the attention of those 
involved with preparation of the policy. This process will also be able to 
highlight any areas of the emerging AAP/OAPF which may require further 
exploration. IIA recognises that specific impact assessments still have their 
place, but has been devised to enable a wide range of stakeholders within 
and across different organisations and communities to consider various 
potential impacts of the policy at the same time. 

1.1.5. Under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
(2004), three statutory consultation bodies with environmental responsibilities 
must be consulted on the scope and level of detail of the information included 
in the report: 

1. Historic England;
2. Environment Agency;
3. Natural England.

1.1.6. However as this is an IIA with a broader scope than purely environmental 
issues the council also will consult additional interest groups and bodies with 
an interest in the issues covered. 

1.1.7. The results of the consultation on this scoping report will be used to shape the 
IIA process, including: 
 The selection of environmental, social, economic, health and equality

aspects to be assessed;
 The identification of IIA objectives;
 The choice of preferred options to be considered within the Old Kent

Road AAP/OAPF.

1.1.8. This scoping report has been published on the council’s website on Friday 12 
February 2015 for a five-week consultation period. During the consultation 
period, we strongly encourage comments to be submitted, where you can 
suggest improvements or point out if there is anything we have missed. We 
will respond, and publish responses, to the comments received and make 
amendments to the information if necessary to inform the IIA of the Preferred 
Options paper for the draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan. 

1.2. Southwark’s Planning Policy Context 

1.2.1. There are a number of components to the Southwark planning policy context 
from the national level to locally prepared development plans and planning 
documents. Numbers 1-7, listed below, together make up Southwark’s current 
planning policy context: 

1) The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – the NPPF was
introduced by the government in 2012 and condensed thousands of
pages of national planning policy into 52 pages. To aid understanding
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and interpretation of the NPPF, the government has also produced 
topic-based national planning practice guidance (NPPG). However, the 
guidance does not constitute formal policy, and so does not hold 
significant weight in the determination of planning applications. The 
NPPF seeks to establish planning policies applicable to the UK as a 
whole. Unless otherwise justifiable, all regional and local planning policy 
must be in general conformity with the NPPF. 

2) The London Plan (2015) – The London Plan contains the regional
planning policy for Greater London as a whole. The London Plan
considers long-term, large scale, strategic issues as well as more
detailed policy suited specifically to London, for example prescribing
acceptable levels of density in a London context. The Mayor of London
also produces more detailed Supplementary Planning Guidance to aid
understanding and interpretation of the planning policies in the London
Plan. Unless otherwise justifiable, all London borough local planning
policy must be in general conformity with the London Plan.

3) The “saved” Southwark Plan policies (adopted in 2007): The saved
Southwark Plan policies contain detailed development management
policies which are used in assessing planning applications.

4) The Core Strategy (adopted in 2011) is the overarching spatial plan for
the borough, and the adopted policies map (2012). This was produced
in response to a new system of local plans introduced by national
government. The Core Strategy takes a longer-term, more broad and
strategic overview than the 2007 Southwark Plan.

5) Area Action Plans (AAPs) - adopted for Aylesbury, Peckham and
Nunhead and Canada Water. These documents contain area-specific
planning policy fine-tuned for that specific area.

6) Other area-based and topic-based Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPDs). These do not constitute planning policy and their purpose is to
aid understanding and provide a more detailed interpretation of and
guidance to local Southwark planning policy.

7) Southwark has several neighbourhood forums either established or
currently in the process of establishing with the objective of designating
a neighbourhood area, for which a group of people can come together
and write their own development plan for. Again, this must be in general
conformity with the local, regional and national planning policy. So far
no neighbourhood plans have been produced or adopted in Southwark.

8) Local Development Scheme: This sets out a timetable for the
preparation and adoption of the Local Planning Authorities various
planning policy documents (such as those listed above). This schedule
takes into account the different stages of plan preparation including
evidence base gathering or background studies, various consultation
phases and, where relevant, any public hearings that the council will
need to go through before getting the policies adopted. This is updated
every year.
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New Southwark Plan 

1.2.2. The New Southwark Plan (NSP) will replace the saved Southwark Plan and 
the Core Strategy and contains strategic and detailed policies in one whole 
document. The planning policies, as proposed in the New Southwark Plan, 
will have significant implications for the social, economic and environmental 
well-being and resilience of the borough and its residents. 

1.2.3. The NSP will emerge as a result of a series of consultations which will be 
carried out over the next few years to meet the requirements of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (The 
Regulations) as well as the guidance set out in Southwark’s Statement of 
Community Involvement (SCI). 

1.2.4. An informal first stage of the preparation of the NSP, the Issues and Options 
paper, was consulted on until 6 March 2015. Comments received at this stage 
were taken into account in the preparation of the Preferred Option version of 
the NSP. The NSP Preferred Option has been published for public 
consultation from 26 October 2015 to 12 February 2016. The Preferred 
Option sets out an emerging strategy for regeneration in Southwark including 
detailed development management policies. The NSP sets out the Council’s 
approach to planning to deliver the Council’s Fairer Future promises, updating 
the strategy and area visions in the Core Strategy (2011).  

Old Kent Road Area Action Plan/Opportunity Area Planning Framework 

1.2.5. The AAP/OAPF will be prepared in stages. Consultation is currently at the 
issues and options informal stage. This has been taking place throughout 
2015 and 2016. The council has been holding a series of workshops and 
other events designed to generate ideas on all relevant themes including the 
overall vision, design and building heights, the mix of activities and uses, 
routes and public transport and green infrastructure. The outcomes of 
consultation will inform the preferred options AAP/OAPF, to be published for 
consultation in spring 2016.   

1.2.6. The final AAP/OAPF will be prepared for consultation in 2017 and then 
submitted to the Secretary of State for an examination-in-public held by an 
independent planning inspector.  

1.3. The move towards Integrated Impact Assessment 

1.3.1. During the preparation of local plans, the council is required by UK law to 
assess the sustainability impacts of its planning policies through a 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA). This is a requirement under section 19 (5) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (‘the Act’). SA is an integral part of 
good plan making and should not be seen as a separate activity. Its purpose 
is to promote sustainable development by integrating sustainability 
considerations into plans. By testing each plan policy against sustainability 
objectives, the SA process assesses and reports the likely significant effects 
of the plan policies and the opportunities for improving social, environmental 
and economic conditions by implementing the plan. 

1.3.2. SAs are also required to satisfy the European Directive 2001/42/EC. The 
Directive requires a formal Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of 
certain plans and programmes that are likely to have significant effects on the 
environment. SEA is transposed into UK legislation through the Environment 



8 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. SEA is focused 
primarily on environmental effects, whereas SA goes further by examining all 
the sustainability related effects of plans, whether they are social, 
environmental or economic. The process for undertaking a SA is conducted in 
accordance with the requirements of the SEA Directive.  

1.3.3. The council is also required by UK law to pay due regard to advancing 
equality, fostering good relations and eliminating discrimination for people 
sharing certain protected characteristics, as set out in the Public Sector 
Equalities Duty (2011) (under section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010). The 
council carries out Equalities Analysis (EqIA) of its plans, decisions and 
programmes to consider the potential impact (positive and negative) of 
proposals on the key ‘protected characteristics’ in the Equality Act 2010 and 
on Human Rights.  

1.3.4. Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a combination of procedures, methods 
and tools by which a policy, program or project may be judged as to its 
potential effects on the health of a population, and the distribution of these 
effects within the population. In this context health can be defined as both 
physical and mental health and well-being. HIA also considers the potential 
effects on the determinants of health such as life circumstances and lifestyles. 
HIA is still a relatively new concept and as yet there is no one standard 
method for conducting HIAs. However it should involve all relevant 
stakeholders and use a range of methods to gather data as evidence. While a 
HIA is not required by law it is considered good practice, particularly since 
responsibility in managing the health of populations was transferred form 
national government to local authorities following the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012. 

1.3.5. Crucially, assessing policies from these different perspectives - that is 1) a 
sustainability perspective (including environmental, social and economic 
sustainability), 2) an equalities perspective and 3) a health perspective - will 
enable a considered and holistic approach to assessing the proposed policies 
in the AAP/OAPF in an integrated way.   

1.3.6. There are overlaps in the methods and outputs of the above documents and 
therefore an approach which fuses the statutory requirements of the SA, SEA, 
EqA and HIA into a single integrated impact assessment will be used to 
assess the impact of the AAP/OAPF.   

1.4. Process 

1.4.1. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) sets out the key stages and 
tasks for the SA process and their relationship with the Local Plan process, 
which are illustrated in Figure 1.2. These key stages and tasks are applicable 
to the IIA process for the Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF. It is important to note 
that IIA is an iterative and on-going process. Stages and tasks in the IIA 
process may be revisited and updated or revised as a plan develops, to take 
account of updated or new evidence as well as consultation responses. 

1.4.2. This document reports the scoping stage of the IIA process for the 
AAP/OAPF. Following this introductory Section 1, this report is structured into 
six further sections: 

 Section 2 and Appendix 1 provides a summary of the key plans, strategies
and programmes of relevance to the IIA of the AAP/OAPF;
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 Section 3 describes the characteristics of the Old Kent Road area, setting out 
a summary of the collated baseline information; 

 Section 4 sets out the key sustainability, health and equality issues and IIA 
Framework of Objectives; 

 Section 5 sets out proposed approach and method for the IIA; and 
 Section 6 provides the structure of the IIA report and next steps for the 

process. 

 
Figure 1.2  
Source: National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
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2. IDENTIFYING OTHER RELEVANT PLANS, STRATEGIES
AND PROGRAMMES

2.1. Introduction 

2.1.1. In order to establish a clear and concise scope for the IIA it is necessary to 
identify and review the relevant polices, plans and programmes that may 
influence the content of the AAP/OAPF. This process enables potential 
relationships to be identified that will allow potential synergies to be exploited 
and any inconsistencies and constraints to be addressed. It will also identify 
additional objectives and indicators, which will assist in analysing and 
comparing economic, environmental and social impacts throughout the SA 
and help in identifying key sustainability issues. 

2.1.2. It is important to identify this policy framework at an early stage as a wide 
range of guidance and initiatives influence the United Kingdom’s planning 
system and the development of planning policy in Southwark  

2.1.3. The policy framework is constantly evolving: at a national level, the National 
Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance are now 
in place (replacing and simplifying a suite of former national policy and 
guidance documents); at a regional level, the London Plan and associated 
Supplementary Planning Guidance are subject to on-going review. 

2.1.4. At a local level, planning decisions in Southwark are influenced by a number 
of statutory plan-making authorities and policy is developed with regard to 
corporate Council-wide strategies. In addition the evidence base continues to 
evolve as AAP/OAPF framework documents are prepared. 

2.1.5. Appendix 1 provides an overview of the key international, national, regional 
and local policies, plans and programmes that will inform the AAP/OAPF and 
accompanying IIA.  
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3. BASELINE INFORMATION

3.1. Introduction 

3.1.1. The SEA Directive requires the collation of baseline information to provide a 
background to, and evidence base for, identifying sustainability problems and 
opportunities in the borough and providing the basis for predicting and 
monitoring effects of the AAP/OAPF. To make judgements about how the 
emerging content of the AAP/OAPF will progress or hinder sustainable 
development, it is essential to understand the economic, environmental and 
social circumstances in the borough today and their likely evolution in the 
future. The aim is to collect only relevant and sufficient data on the present 
and future state of the borough to allow the potential effects of the AAP/OAPF 
to be adequately predicted. 

3.1.2. The SA/ SEA Guidance provided by Government proposes a practical 
approach to data collection, recognising that information may not yet be 
available and that information gaps for future improvements should be 
reported as well as the need to consider uncertainties in data. Collection of 
baseline information should be continuous as the IIA process guides plan 
making and as new information becomes available. 

3.1.3. A summary of the collated baseline information is provided below. The 
majority of the Old Kent Road opportunity area broadly covers the four wards 
of Grange, South Bermondsey, East Walworth and Livesey which have been 
used to gather baseline information. Census statistics for the Old Kent Road 
area in this section are based on a best fit of lower level super output areas to 
the proposed opportunity area boundary. 

3.2. SOCIAL CONDITIONS 

Population 

3.2.1. The approximate population of the Old Kent Road area in 2011 was 32,1421, 
11.1% of Southwark’s total population of 288,283. 

3.2.2. At a borough level the population of Southwark is projected to grow 20% from 
306,745 in 2015 to 368,444 in 20362.  Some of this population growth will be 
accommodated in the opportunity area. The scale will be largely determined 
by the level of development planned for by the AAP/OAPF.  

3.2.3. Current projections for the 4 council wards containing the major part of the 
opportunity area3 estimate population growth of 15% from 58,732 in 2015 to 
67,829 in 2036. This rate of population growth is lower than that expected for 
the borough and indicates the level which might be expected without the 
implementation of the AAP/OAPF for the opportunity area.  

3.2.4. The average density for the opportunity area is 105.0 persons per hectare4, 
which is only marginally lower than the borough (105.5) and inner London 

1 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
2 GLA 2014 Round SHLAA Based Capped Population Projections, Greater London Authority 
3 GLA 2014 Round Ward-level Capped Borough Preferred Option Population Projections, Greater 
London Authority [not available online] 
4 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
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(106.4) averages5. Given that the area does not include any significant open 
undeveloped land, although it does contain uninhabited industrial areas, the 
average density is not necessarily indicative of the resulting character of 
residential neighbourhoods within the area.  

Age groups 

Table 3.1 Proportion of population by broad age band 
mid-2012 

0–15 years 16–64 years 65+ years 
% % % 

Old Kent Road 20.5 71.7 7.9 
Southwark 18.6 73.6 7.8 
London 20.1 68.7 11.3 
England 18.9 64.1 16.9 
Source: Office for National Statistics6

3.2.5. At present the opportunity area has a high proportion of people under 
retirement age and population growth in recent years has been dominated by 
a growth in the number of working age people. The proportion of people 
below working age is slightly greater than the national or borough average but 
is close to the average for London.  This age group saw a 14.4% increase 
from 2002 to 2012. The proportion of working age people is slightly lower than 
the borough average, but remains higher than the national or London-wide 
average and saw an increase of 29.3% from 2002 to 2012.   

3.2.6. The proportion of people older than working age is close to the borough 
average, and is less than half of the national average, following a 10.5% 
decrease from 2002 to 2012. However at a borough level the 65+ age group 
is projected to increase from 7.8% to 10.1% by 20317 so there is potential for 
the downward trend in the opportunity area to change as the resident 
population ages, if older people remain living in the area.  

Diversity 

Table 3.2 Percentage of population by broad ethnic group 
2011 

White 

Mixed/ 
multiple 
ethnic 
groups 

Asian/ 
Asian 
British 

Black/ 
African/ 
Caribbean/ 
Black 
British 

Other 
ethnic 
group 

% % % % % 
Old Kent Road 46.2 6.5 8.6 34.1 4.5 
Southwark 54.2 6.2 9.4 26.9 3.3 
London 59.8 5.0 18.5 13.3 3.4 
England 85.4 2.3 7.8 3.5 1.0 
Source: 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 

3.2.7. The area has a similar profile of broad ethnic groups to the borough overall, 
with the representation of white ethnic groups significantly lower than the 

5 Local Profiles, Neighbourhood Statistics, Office for National Statistics 
6 Mid-year Population Estimates, Office for National Statistics  
7 South East London Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2015 
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national average. Black/ African/ Caribbean/ Black British groups are the 
second largest broad group in the area and their proportion of the population 
is greater than the borough and significantly greater than the regional or 
national average. Similarly, while still the smallest broad group other ethnic 
groups are represented at 4.5 times the national average. The proportion of 
Asian/ Asian British groups is around half that of the London average.  

3.2.8. 43.4% of the area’s residents were born outside the UK, above the borough 
average of 36.5%. 12.0% were born in other European countries. The other 
largest migrant groups by birth are 12.7% from Central and Western Africa, 
4.1% from South America and 3.12% from South and Eastern Africa. The 
main language for 22.8% of people age 3 years and over is something other 
than English. This is between the borough average of 19.6% and 25.2% for 
inner London.8  

3.2.9. 57.5% of residents in the opportunity area state their religion as Christian 
faith, closer to the national average of 59% than the borough average of 
52.5%. The second most prevalent religion in the area is the Muslim faith at 
10.9%, higher than the borough average of 8.5% and the national average of 
5.0%. 20.5% of residents stated they had no religion, compares to 26.7% 
borough-wide and 24.7% nationally.9   

Deprivation 

3.2.10. The Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)10 combine a number of indicators, 
chosen to cover a range of economic, social and housing issues, into a single 
deprivation score for each small area of roughly 1,500 residents (called Lower 
Super Output Areas - LSOAs) in England. This allows each area to be ranked 
relative to one another according to their level of deprivation.   

3.2.11. In 2015 Southwark is ranked the 40th most deprived borough of the 326 local 
authorities in England on average score (i.e. it is in the top 15% most 
deprived), holding a similar position to 2010 when it was ranked 41st. 
Deprivation is varied within the opportunity area, with 6 small areas in the 
30% most deprived, 8 in the 20% most deprived and 3 in the 10% most 
deprived. The relative deprivation was very similar in 2010, with one less 
small area in the 20% most deprived.  The concentration of deprivation in the 
opportunity area and surrounding neighbourhoods is shown on the following 
map. 

8 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
9 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
10 English indices of deprivation, Department for Communities and Local Government 
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Figure 3.1 Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 
Source: Department for Communities and Local Government 

 
3.2.12. The IMD is grouped into broad indicators, or domains, each of which is 

compiled from a number of sub-domains, some of which are described in the 
table below 
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Table 3.4 Index of Multiple Deprivation 
2015, 2010 
IMD Domain Average relative deprivation in England 

Old Kent Road 
Opportunity area 
2015 

Southwark 2015 
(rank of average 
score) 

Old Kent Road 
Opportunity area 
2010 

Income deprivation 
(including numbers of 
adults and children on a 
range of benefits) 

20% most deprived 10% most deprived 20% most deprived 

Employment deprivation 
(including numbers on a 
range of out of work 
benefits) 

30% most deprived 35% most deprived 30% most deprived 

Health and disability 
(including figures on 
standardised measures of 
morbidity, disability and 
premature death) 

40% most deprived 30% most deprived 30% most deprived 

Education, skills and 
training (including a range 
of school attainment 
figures for children and 
young people and those 
for adults with few/no 
qualifications) 

50% most deprived 25% least deprived 50% most deprived 

Barriers to housing and 
other services (including 
the accessibility of housing 
and proximity of key local 
services) 

20% most deprived 10% most deprived 10% most deprived 

Crime levels (including 
figures for recorded crime 
in four key areas: violence, 
burglary, theft and criminal 
damage) 

20% most deprived 5% most deprived 15% most deprived 

Living Environment 
(includes separate scores 
for the quality of indoor 
living environment and 
outside living environment) 

20% most deprived 5% most deprived 15% most deprived 

Source: Department for Communities and Local Government 

3.2.13. The domain rankings give a broad indication of the nature of deprivation in the 
opportunity area. The areas of greatest concern are income, barriers to 
housing and other services, crime levels and living environment. However, 
across most of these domains the area’s relative performance has improved 
since 2010 and it is less deprived relatively than the borough average.  

3.2.14. Although the area performs worse than the borough average, it does not 
register as a relatively deprived area in terms of education, skills and training 
and neither does it show significant levels of deprivation due to health and 
disability. 
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Indices of Deprivation Affecting Older People Index (IDAOPI) and 
Indices of Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) 2015 

3.2.15. Subsets of the Income Deprivation Domain show the relative proportions of 
children and older peoples that are income deprived by small area11. 

3.2.16. Southwark ranks 6th (i.e. top 2%) out of 326 local authorities in England for 
the average score for income deprivation affecting older people and 17th (i.e. 
top 6%) in England for income deprivation affecting children. The relative level 
is less severe in the opportunity area but the average rank is still in the top 
20% in England for both older people and children, and more acute than 
income deprivation generally. 

Mosaic Household Index 

Table 3.5 Propensity of Households towards Mosaic Groups 
2014 
Aspiring 
Homemakers 

City 
Prosperity 

Family 
Basics 

Municipal 
Challenge 

Rental 
Hubs 

Transient 
Renters 

Urban 
Cohesion 

Vintage 
Value 

0.0% 10.5% 0.7% 63.1% 21.7% 0.2% 2.8% 0.9% 
Source: Experian12

3.2.17. Segmentation of social groups by demographic, lifestyle and behaviour 
datasets gives another profile of local socio-economic conditions. 

3.2.18. In the opportunity area over half of households are likely to be in the Mosaic 
Municipal Challenge group. These are typically long-term tenants of social 
housing of working age without children, facing unemployment or lower 
incomes and receiving benefits. Crime and the fear of crime are significant 
issues for these residents. Health issues may include poor diet and lack of 
exercise. 

3.2.19. The second most likely group to be present is Rental Hubs – single private 
renters without children, often including those in shared accommodation. 
They are typically aged 18-35 including students and people with higher 
qualifications early in their careers. They have a low incidence of health 
issues and need of financial support but are victims of high rates of crime.  

3.2.20. The third most likely group to be present is City Prosperity – people in senior 
well-paid city jobs, typically in their 30s without children. They have high 
levels of good health but are also victims of high rates of crime.   

3.2.21. Some caution should be taken given the intention of the segmentation data to 
generalise about groups of households. For instance census data indicates a 
higher than average proportion of children in the area but the common Mosaic 
groups would suggest the opposite. The profile does however support 
indications from the IMD that levels of deprivation are reasonably high in the 
opportunity area and highlights issues of income and crime in particular. 
There is also some mix of different groups in the area and not all residents will 
face the same challenges. 

11 English indices of deprivation, Department for Communities and Local Government 
12 Mosaic Household Index 2014, Experian 
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Housing 

House Prices 

3.2.22. London and Southwark’s growing population has serious implications for 
housing. The increased demand for housing has effects on affordability and 
overcrowding. In October 2015 the average house price in Southwark was 
£586,106. In the opportunity area, the average house price in 2014 was 
£422,220. House prices are significantly more in Grange ward compared to 
the other wards covering the opportunity area due to proximity to the city. This 
compares favourably with the greater London average of £630,050 (October 
2015). Across England as a whole, the average house price was £296,549. 
This makes the cost of buying a house in the opportunity area at present 
around 1.4 times more expensive than in the rest of the UK. 

3.2.23. Nationally, house prices have risen by 5.6% over one year from October 2014 
to October 2015. In Southwark, prices over the same period decreased by 
0.3% however the monthly change from September to October 2015 saw a 
drop in price by 3% (or £19,016) back to close to the 2014 average. Demand 
for homes in London and a shortage of supply has led to an increase of 
average price of £211,272 or 50% in the last five years. For a 2 bedroom 
property in Southwark the average rent was £2,108 per month (October 
2015).13

3.2.24. The Old Kent Road is characterised by a wide variety of housing types 
including terraced houses, cul-de-sacs, blocks of flats, maisonettes and some 
neo-Georgian architecture and mansion houses along the road frontage. 
Post-war clearances and the drive for redevelopment led to a number of new 
housing estates built in the 1960’s, a substantial amount of pre-war historic 
housing estates also remain managed by the Peabody Trust and City of 
London Corporation, alongside newer 1980/90s developments, all of which 
are well served by schools, places of worship, open spaces and other 
community uses.14 

3.2.25. Some examples of pre and post war housing estates include: 

 Tustin Estate, built in the late 1960s. Located on the corner of Ilderton Road
and Old Kent Road

 Manor Grove. Designed by George Finch, London County Council architect in
1959, built c1961

 Kent House, built in 1935 and has been fully refurbished in recent years
 Waleran, Dover and Kingsley buildings which make up the Bricklayers Arms

Estate were built in 1884 by the Improved Industrial Dwellings Company, and
bought by Peabody in 1964

 Avondale Square Estate. The three 20-storey tower block buildings and other
blocks built as part of the Corporation of London's Avondale Square estate
development were opened on 26 October 1962 under the names West,
Centre and East Point

3.2.26. Southwark Council is one of the largest landlords in the UK, being responsible 
for 39,780 dwellings within its boundaries. This equates to 32% of the total 
number of homes in the borough. This is a significantly higher proportion than 

13 Housing Market Trends Bulletin, South East London Housing Partnership 2015/16 
14 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016, GLA/Southwark Council 
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Greater London as a whole, where 12.2% of the total housing stock is owned 
and managed by local authorities.

3.2.27. In 2011, 30.6% of the 39,780 council homes in Southwark fell below the 
government’s “decent homes standard.” This is equates to 12,173 dwellings. 
Again this is significantly higher than the London-wide figure of 22.4% of 
council homes falling below the “decent homes standard”.

3.2.28. Housing provided by registered social landlords (RSLs), such as Housing 
Associations, make up 12.5% of the borough’s housing stock, at 15,530 
dwellings. This is roughly inline with the London-wide figure of 11.4% of the 
city’s housing stock.15 

3.2.29. In the opportunity area, 58% of the housing stock is social rented, 17% of 
properties are privately owned, and 21% are privately rented. Flats are the 
dominant housing typology in the Old Kent Road, comprising 80% of the 
area’s stock.16 

New build homes (Use Class C3) in Southwark 

3.2.30. The London Plan (2015) sets Southwark a target of 2,736 net new homes 
every year up to 2025 to make a total London Plan target of 27,362 new 
homes between 2015 and 2025. This includes new-build, conventional, self 
contained homes as well as non-conventional, non-self contained homes 
such as hostels, HMOs, care homes and student housing. For some 
boroughs, the Mayor expects empty homes brought back into use to count 
towards meeting their target. In prescribing his targets, the Mayor did not 
expect Southwark to deliver any new homes from bringing empty units back 
into use. However Southwark has consistently delivered new homes this way 
each year regardless. During each year since 2004/05, Southwark has bought 
an average of 157 empty homes back into use.17 

3.2.31. Southwark is currently delivering around 1,700 new homes per annum with 
around 700 of these being affordable homes. This is consistently one of the 
highest levels of delivery of new homes within London and nationwide. The 
delivery of new homes is expected to come forward predominantly in 
Southwark’s regeneration areas, identified in the New Southwark Plan 
(Preferred Option) of which the Old Kent Road forms an important part. The 
opportunity area is expected to bring forward up to 20,000 new homes up to 
2036 to help meet these ambitious targets. 

3.2.32. In the period March 2013 to March 2014 223 net new homes were completed 
in the opportunity area or within close proximity to the boundary, 67 of which 
were new affordable homes.18 Some mixed use development can already be 
seen replacing industrial or commercial land within the area. For example, a 
scheme completed in 2014 at 430-432 Old Kent Road saw the demolition of a 
former car garage and redevelopment including 64 new homes (22 of which 
were affordable homes), along with 417 sqm of commercial floorspace with 
high street frontage.   

15 Local Profiles, Neighbourhood Statistics, ONS: 
http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/dissemination/Info.do?page=analysisandguidance/analysisar
ticles/local-authority-profiles.htm 
16 London Borough Profiles, GLA: http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/london-borough-profiles 
17 Southwark Council Housing Department  
18 London Development Database 
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Affordable housing and family-sized housing 

3.2.33. Southwark’s housing needs were most recently assessed in the South East 
London Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014, which looked at 
the South East London sub-region as a whole. The SHMA 2014 recognised 
that the largest demand for housing in Southwark is for family and affordable 
housing, particularly social rented housing. In 2013, the average house price 
in Southwark was 12.8 times the average full-time worker’s earnings. This is 
higher than the London average of 11.8 times earnings. 

3.2.34. Southwark has over 18,400 overcrowded households, representing over 15% 
of the borough’s households. Almost 3% of these households fell into the 
“severely over crowed” capacity, being two or more bedrooms short of need. 
In 2013 there were 761 households classed as homeless and in temporary 
accommodation. The SHMA estimates an additional 2,232 households will 
have affordable housing need in the future. This is from newly formed 
households unable to buy on the open market as well as existing households 
falling into need due to changing circumstances. Southwark also has a 
backlog of over 19,000 households with an unmet need for affordable 
housing, with over 16,000 of these being overcrowded households. 
Overcrowding is known to have a negative effect, particularly with children, on 
physical health and mental well-being.19 

3.2.35. The SHMA surmises that to meet the existing and future affordable housing 
need Southwark needs to deliver around 800 affordable units per year. 67% 
of this figure would meet needs through being intermediate housing. 
According to the SHMA, the largest demand is for three and four bed units in 
the social and affordable rented sector. There is no additional requirement for 
one-bed units in the social and affordable rented sector. In the intermediate 
sector the greatest demand is for two-bedroom units.  

3.2.36. Since 2011/12, the yearly average number of affordable homes completed in 
Southwark was 496. This is 62% of the estimated need as identified in the 
SHMA. 496 new build affordable conventional homes equates to 39% of all 
new conventional homes built each year. Of this 39%, 26% have been for 
social rent. Since 2011/12, 35% of all new build affordable units in Southwark 
were family sized (three-bedrooms or more), at 515 family-sized affordable 
units of 1488 affordable units. 897 family sized units (market and affordable) 
have been delivered as part of the total 3808 units delivered since 2011/12, 
representing 24%.20 

Housing to meet specific-needs 

3.2.37. Southwark is projected to have a 63% increase in the number of people aged 
65+ between 2012 and 2032. There is also a 73% projected increase in the 
number of people aged 85+. Southwark has a below average supply of 
specialised elderly accommodation (compared with the average for South 
East London). 33% of elderly households in the borough are owner occupiers 
while 61% are in the social rented sector. Southwark has fewer elderly people 
with mobility issues than other South East London boroughs (with around 
4,200) however this group is expected to increase by 17% between 2012 and 
2020.

19 Chance of a Life Time: The Impact of Bad Housing on Children’s Lives, Shelter: 
https://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/39202/Chance_of_a_Lifetime.pdf 
20 London Development Database 
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3.2.38. Over the same period, the number of working age people with serious 
physical disability is expected to increase by 23% from 3,600 to almost 4,450. 
Current unmet need for wheelchair housing stands at close to 550 
households.

3.2.39. Of the 4,300 students living in halls of residence in South East London, more 
than half were in Southwark.21 Over the past 10 years, close to 1,800 student 
rooms have been delivered in Southwark each year, with over 1000 of these 
completed since 2011/12.22 

3.2.40. Together with Lewisham, Southwark has the most ethnically diverse 
population in the South East London sub-region. The borough has a 
significant number of African households. Compared to the population as a 
whole, a very high proportion of Black households (70%) are housed in the 
social/affordable rented sector and a small proportion of this group (17%) is in 
owner-occupation. A greater proportion of White households in Southwark are 
in the 64+ age group compared to the other ethnic groups in the borough.23 

Social Infrastructure 
Education, Skills and Training 

3.2.41. In Southwark the proportion of the population without qualifications fell from 
23.0% in 2005 to 8.1% in 2014. This level has converged with the London-
wide average which fell from a lower rate but by less from 14.3% to 7.9%.24 In 
2011 in the opportunity area the proportion of the adult population without 
qualifications was 21.1%25, although it is not known whether this has 
improved as with the trend in the wider borough and London.   

3.2.42. At the borough level the percentage of pupils achieving 5+ A*-C grade 
GCSEs in 2013/14 was 61.4%, similar to the London average of 61.8%. In 
2013/14 a slightly higher proportion of 65.7% of pupils living in the opportunity 
area achieved these grades.26 

3.2.43. In 2014, the proportion of 16 to 18 year-olds NEET (not in education, 
employment or training) in Southwark was 2.0%, lower than the 3.4% London 
average27. 

School Redevelopment and Expansion 

3.2.44. The progress towards planning for primary and secondary school places was 
reported to Southwark’s cabinet in 21 July 201528. By September 2015, 
Southwark will have added close to 3000 additional primary school places 
since 2009, and this is expected to be over 4000 places by 2018. Work has 
also been carried out with secondary education providers to identify capacity 
for expansion.  

21 SE London SHMA, 2014 
22 London Development Database 
23 SE London SHMA, 2014 
24 Annual Population Survey, Office for National Statistics 
25 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
26 GCSE and Equivalent Results for Young People by Gender, Referenced by Location of Pupil 
Residence, Neighbourhood Statistics,  Department for Education [LSOA data taken where available] 
27 Participation in education, training and employment, age 16 to 18, Department for Education 
28http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/documents/s55562/Report%20Primary%20and%20secondary%20
school%20place%20planning%20strategy%20and%20Appendices%201-3.pdf 
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3.2.45. Primary demand continues to increase in the north of the borough. The 
opportunity area overlaps with 3 of the 5 pupil place planning areas for 
primary education provision in Southwark. Despite the planned expansions 
and new non-state schools there will be unmet need across the 3 planning 
areas for an additional 1 form of entry by September 2020. Cabinet resolved 
to consult on the expansion of Rotherhithe Primary School to meet this need 
and further options for expansions of Church of England schools and 
academies may exist.  

3.2.46. Projections for secondary schools predict a borough-wide shortfall from 2019-
20 onwards, with another secondary school needed by 2022-23 (6 forms of 
entry demand overall). Limitations of projecting secondary school demand are 
noted in the report and demand will be kept under review.   

3.2.47. In summary education performance across the borough and within the 
opportunity area is comparatively good. On the other hand, expansion in 
school places is only expected to keep up with increasing demand and 
additional places may be needed beyond the current pupil place planning 
horizon.  

Health Baseline 

3.2.48. The Southwark Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-202029 (Southwark 
Health and Wellbeing Board) draws out key health facts from the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment process: 

• Male Life expectancy is 78.2 years compared to 78.5 years in England.
• Female Life expectancy is 83.4 years compared to 82.5 years in England.
• Infant mortality rate (death in babies under 1 year) has decreased year on

year and but is 6.17 per 1000 live births compared to 4.29 in England.
• Lifestyle risk factors such as alcohol/substance misuse, smoking, unhealthy

diet (e.g. child obesity) and unprotected sex continue to be major risks to
good health in the population.

• As a consequence, there is higher incidence of emergency hospital
admissions due to alcohol related conditions, high rates of teenage
pregnancy and HIV, high rate of premature deaths from cancer and cardio-
vascular diseases and high prevalence of mental illness in the local
population.

• Coronary heart disease, malignant neoplasms (cancers) and respiratory
diseases remain the top three causes of death in the population.

• Disease prevalence models have shown that there are high numbers of
undetected cases of diabetes, hypertension and heart disease in Southwark
population. Early detection and treatment is beneficial for patient’s health
outcomes as well as cost of treatment to the NHS.

• Socio-economic challenges such as unemployment and poor housing result
in a relatively higher rate of child poverty and social exclusion which
subsequently contribute to poor physical and mental health manifesting in
health inequalities.

3.2.49. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment includes profiles of 4 locality areas 
and the opportunity area overlaps with 3 of these: Bermondsey & Rotherhithe, 

29 Southwark Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2020, Southwark Health and Wellbeing Board 
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Borough & Walworth, and Peckham & Camberwell. The following issues were 
identified from comparison to national rates (discounting areas already 
covered in this baseline such as housing and deprivation). 

Table 3.6 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Locality Indicators 
2015 
Locality Area Indicators significantly worse than 

national average  
Bermondsey & Rotherhithe Obese children (reception year) 

Children with excess weight (reception year) 
A&E attendance in under 5s  
Emergency hospital admissions for all 
causes, CHD, stroke and COPD 
Incidence of lung cancer 
Emergency hospital admissions for hip 
fracture 
Deaths from all causes under 75 
Deaths from respiratory diseases, all ages 

Borough & Walworth Low birth weight births 
Obese children (reception year) 
Children with excess weight (reception year) 
Obese children (year 6) 
Children with excess weight (year 6) 
A&E attendances in under 5s 
Emergency hospital admissions for all 
causes, stroke, and COPD 
Incidence of lung cancer 
Hospital stays for alcohol related harm 
Deaths from all causes under 65 and under 
75 
Deaths from cancer under 75 and all ages 
Deaths from circulatory disease under 75 

Peckham & Camberwell Low birth weight births 
General health 
Obese children (reception year) 
Children with excess weight (reception year) 
Obese children (year 6) 
Children with excess weight (year 6) 
A&E attendance in under 5s  
Obese adults 
Emergency hospital admissions for all 
causes, stroke and COPD 
Incidence of lung and prostate cancers 
Hospital stays for alcohol related harm 
Deaths from all causes, all ages, under 65 
and under 75  
Deaths from cancer all ages and under 75  
Deaths from circulatory disease all ages and 
under 75  
Deaths from coronary heart disease under 75 
Deaths from respiratory disease all ages 

Source: Southwark Health and Wellbeing Board30

3.2.50. In the opportunity area 5.5% of people reported that they were in bad or very 
bad health in 2011, the same as the national average of 5.5% but slightly 
above the 4.9% average for London. 15.4% of people had a limiting long term 

30Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  Locality Spine Charts, Southwark Health and Wellbeing Board 



23 

illness or disability, between the national average of 17.6% and average for 
areas in London of 14.2%.31  

Health Floor Space 

3.2.51. Between 2005 and 2015 there was a single planning permission implemented 
for the loss or gain of health floor space in the 4 wards containing the majority 
of the opportunity area32:  

• 1,254 m2 of space was provided on Bermondsey Spa Site A for a dentist,
pharmacy and health centre.

Community Uses 

3.2.52. Growth in homes and jobs also generates a need for other community 
facilities including nursery and childcare space, premises for faith groups, 
libraries, museums and cultural spaces etc.  

3.2.53. Between 2005 and 2015 there was a net gain of around 3,600m2 of other 
(class D1) community uses, discounting education facilities in the 5 wards: 

• Net gain of 152 m2 of non-specified or flexible space for community uses at
161-171 Abbey Street, 506-510 Old Kent Road, 685-689 Old Kent Road,
Bermondsey Spa Site C5 and Land on the east side of Crosby Row.

• There was the loss of a museum (2,230m2) at Arches 6-11 Crucifix Lane but a
gain of 2,452m2 art gallery and studio space at 144-152 Bermondsey Street
and at Rich Industrial Estate, Crimscott Street.

• New nurseries were completed at South Bermondsey Children’s Centre
(1,052m2) and as part of a 860m2 expansion at Eveline Lowe Primary School
(50 places). 1,014m2 of nursery space was lost however at Lindley Estate,
Former Whitstable Day Nursery, Stevens Street and Former Limpstone Day
Nursery, Lindley Estate.

• There was a loss of 822m2 in space for worship at Saint Augustine’s Church,
Lynton Road but a gain of 3,164m2 at 5 Congreve Street and Ruby House,
Ruby Street.

3.2.54. 7% (55) of the non residential organisations in the Old Kent Road area are 
places of worship, primarily churches and also mosques. These faith spaces 
occupy 41,000 m2 of floor space (4% of the total in the area). The majority of 
these places of worship are found in industrial areas, sometimes clustered in 
particular areas such as the Gas Works and Hatcham Road.33 This suggests 
that the opportunity area is meeting demands for a high number of distinct 
faith spaces. 

31 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics 
32 London Development Database, Greater London Authority 
33 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016: GLA/Southwark Council 
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3.3. ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

Jobs and Businesses 

3.3.1. Old Kent Road is home to 9 industrial estates/areas, 3 retail parks and 2 high 
street locations. The southernmost end of Old Kent Road is one of the only 
remaining Strategic Industrial Locations (SIL) in inner London. The 
designation wraps around the superstores and retail parks which are located 
on the south side of Old Kent Road and is comprised of a mix of standalone 
warehouses, industrial estates and dense industrial buildings housing a 
myriad of uses. A second part of the SIL runs across a number of sites, 
including the Six Bridges Trading Estate on Marlborough Grove, the 
expansive gasworks and recycling facility, and including dense post-war 
warehouses along Ilderton Road. A third part of the SIL contains the railways 
arches and industrial estates located around South Bermondsey up to Spa 
Road, as well as the Jarrow Road Trading Estate and industrial estates off 
Almond Road. The Mandela Way Industrial Estate and its surrounds are 
classified as a Preferred Industrial Location (PIL) at the local level. The New 
Southwark Plan Preferred Options proposes to review the industrial 
designations and reclassify them as ‘mixed use neighbourhoods’ (Policy 
DM26). 

3.3.2. In 2015, Old Kent Road was home to 748 businesses and 9,500 jobs over 
1,026,300 sqm of floorspace. In the Old Kent Road area, 66% of businesses 
employ less than 10 people and 77% are independent businesses with single 
sites. The proportion of jobs relative to employment floorspace is generally 
less due to the nature of large scale industrial and retail parks. For example, 
the area has 119 jobs per 10,000 sqm of industrial floorspace, 47 jobs per 
10,000 sqm of retail park floorspace and 220 jobs per 10,000 sqm of high 
street floorspace. Only 12% of the jobs within the area are on high streets, 
whilst 25% of jobs are in logistics and storage. The sectors which are the 
most intensive by floorspace include wholesale and storage (26%), services 
(26%) and utilities and car repair (20%). However this is not necessarily 
reflected in the proportion of employees to floorspace ratio. 25% of the 
businesses on Old Kent Road are in the service sector, 9% in business 
manufacture, 13% in the retail sector and 13% are cafes or restaurants. 7% of 
the businesses on Old Kent Road are faith premises, equating to over 50 of 
the total number of businesses.34 

3.3.3. Interviews, surveys and workshops have been carried out as part of ongoing 
consultation on the Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF with individual businesses. 
There was a general consensus amongst participants that the Old Kent Road 
operates well at the moment as a business area.  It offers a unique reservoir 
of activity for London, and has businesses that are there for a reason.   It is 
the closest industrial land to central London, and generally has good transport 
links.  Some problems with the existing infrastructure in the area cited were 
traffic congestion, parking issues, the general amenity of the area, lack of 
fibre optic broadband, and crime and safety. 

3.3.4. Throughout the consultation it was evident that redevelopment would be 
welcome in part. However, there are already pressures as organisations are 
being priced out, or wishing to expand but not able to. For some, particularly 

34 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016: GLA/Southwark Council 
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retail outlets, residential growth is seen as a business opportunity providing 
more customers and local staff, as well as the potential of public realm 
improvements which would benefit public facing businesses. Feedback from 
the business sector in relation to mixed use development was that depending 
on the nature of the business, a degree of separation would be required from 
residential development to avoid incompatibility in neighbouring uses, and to 
provide good access for servicing. In addition it was clear new space would 
need to be provided at reasonable rates and suitable and flexible to suit the 
type of end user envisaged to be successful.  

Economic Activity/Inactivity 

3.3.5. Compared to Southwark and other London boroughs, the Old Kent Road area 
has lower rates of full-time employment and self-employment, and a slightly 
higher proportion of students or economically inactive adults (see Figure 3.2).  

Figure 3.2: Economic Activity 
Source: Census 2011 (Socio-economic profile of the OKR opportunity area, CAG 
Consultants, 2015) 

3.3.6. The largest sector of employment in Southwark is “professional occupations.” 
This amounts to 30% of all jobs in the borough. This is 6% higher than 
London as a whole and 10% higher than Great Britain as a whole. This is 
followed by “associate technical and professional”, at 21% and “managers, 
directors and senior official,” making up 11% of employment in the borough. 
Figure 3.3 demonstrates the Old Kent Road has a higher proportion of 
employees within the lower skilled occupations than residents elsewhere in 
Southwark. OKR has more residents employed in accommodation/food 
services and support services, and fewer in professional/scientific/ technical, 
ICT, finance and property services than Southwark as a whole. 
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Figure 3.3: Employment Sectors  
Source: Census 2011 (Socio-economic profile of the OKR opportunity area, CAG 
Consultants, 2015) 

3.3.7. 31% of people aged 16-64 are economically inactive in the Old Kent Road 
area, accounting for 5,638 people. This compares closely with the London 
rate of also around 22%. The largest sections of the borough’s population that 
are economically inactive are 2106 students, making up 37%. 1073 people 
are retired, making up 19% of the population.35 

3.3.8. In the opportunity area, 16.4% of 16-64 year olds are claiming key out-of–
work benefits; this is more than the Southwark average of 13.1%. 4% are 
claiming Job Seekers Allowance, slightly more than Southwark as a whole at 
3.4%. The highest claim is for housing benefit at 18%, again higher than the 
Southwark average of 14.9%.36 Compared with the London-wide figures, 
Southwark is higher by at most 2%. The figures for UK as a whole are 
generally higher than London and in some cases Southwark also.37 

35 2011 Census, ONS 
36 London Borough Profiles, GLA: http://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/london-borough-profiles 
37 Nomis Labour Market Statistics, Local Authority Profile:
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157256/report.aspx 
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Supply and demand for office space (Use Class B1) in Southwark 

3.3.9. The most recent completed Employment Land Review was carried out in 
2010. Over the course of 2015 and 2016 the council has been carrying out a 
new Employment Land Review and the report on this will be published 
separately as part of the evidence base that underpins the AAP/OAPF. The 
2010 ELR distinguished between two distinct office markets: SE1 and local. 
The SE1 market, extending within the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) within 
Borough, Bankside and London Bridge and the northern area of Elephant and 
Castle is considered the prime office location in the borough. This is due in 
part to the proximity to other large corporations and high accessibility by 
public transport This section of central London, outside of the wider West 
End, in the City of Westminster and the London Borough of Camden, 
combined with the financial centre of the City of London, is often known as the 
City Fringe. 

3.3.10. The second, “local” market attracts small-to-medium sized businesses 
generally seeking more affordable office stock. The businesses that require 
such space typically provide services to other local businesses such as 
information technology companies, creative industries, public sector 
organisations and professional services.  

3.3.11. The 2010 ELR estimated need for between 394,000sqm and 477,000sqm of 
office floorspace to serve the SE1 market over the period 2009 and 2026 and 
25,000sqm to 30,000sqm to serve the local office market.  

3.3.12. More recently, the London Office Policy Review 2014 (LOPR) suggested a 
guideline figure of 400,000 sqm in Southwark over the period 2011-36. These 
estimates will be assessed again through the 2015/2016 ELR.  

3.3.13. Over the period 2000 to 2012 the borough’s office space grew from 1,033,000 
sqm to 1,270,000 sqm. There has been minimal new office development 
outside the SE1 South Bank area since 2005, and a net loss of space 
everywhere except SE15 which saw a marginal net gain. Further, most of the 
new office development outside the South Bank, such as it is, consists of 
converted residential stock and premises above retail property. New 
development for small offices struggles to compete with strong and rising 
residential land values. Net figures for B1 office floorspace show an overall 
loss in the past three years. There has been an overall loss of over 15,000 
sqm of B1 office floorspace in Southwark between 2011/12 to 2013/1438. 

3.3.14. The analysis of the local market in the 2010 ELR suggested that SMEs 
generally require flexible space and incubator units capable of possible 
expansion with premises with good visibility from the road, DDA compliance 
and good accessibility. The ELR identifies that the majority of SMEs are 
searching for premises between 200m and 500m49. There is currently a 
mismatch between supply and demand in the local office market, whereby the 
relatively low quality/older supply is not suited to the characteristics of 
demand i.e. good-quality modern units. This mismatch is set to continue 
owing to the lack of suitable developments in the pipeline and problems 
converting existing stock to higher grade provision. 

38 London Development Database 
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3.3.15. With SMEs making up over 99% of businesses in Southwark, the council is 
conscious that a steady supply of flexible, modern office space under 500 
sqm is required to meet demand. Policies emerging in the New Southwark 
Plan require consideration of managed workspace and flexible smaller units in 
new developments which will accommodate this growing trend. This is 
particularly pertinent in the Old Kent Road area where industrial land, creative 
industries and flexible commercial space operate in the area. The potential 
redevelopment of the Rich Estate on Crimscott Street is an example of how 
mixed use communities can be created with the incorporation of useable 
commercial space within residential development and avoiding the 
displacement of existing creative and commercial uses. Also of note is The 
Biscuit Factory, Tower Bridge Business Park on Clements Road which 
includes a Workspace Group-run managed business centre which offers 
'affordable' and flexible small offices and studios to more than 100 occupiers 
and is operating successfully.  

Industrial/Warehouse and Distribution (Use Class B2 and B8) 

3.3.16. Clusters of industrial and warehousing areas are focused around the major 
transport infrastructure in the borough. This includes the Old Kent Road (A2) 
in the north of the borough, leading from New Cross to Elephant and Castle, 
and the North Kent rail freight line (South East Bermondsey). Other 
established industrial areas include the Rotherhithe Road and Lovegrove 
Estates, Glengall Road and Mandela Way distribution/warehousing centre. 
There are also older self-contained clusters in the south of the borough such 
as Parkhouse Street.  

3.3.17. The existing industrial estates include the Mandela Way 
distribution/warehousing centre, which serves large scale users with the 
advantage of good accessibility via the A2 and the Rich Estate located to the 
north. Glengall Road Business Centre accommodates modern light industrial 
units. The Verney Road area (including the gas works and waste 
management facility), the Lovegrove Street Estate and Six Bridges Trading 
Estate include a mix of industrial and warehousing stock, with some cheaper 
rents. The Hatcham Road area accommodates smaller warehouses, artistic 
and commercial space to the south of the area. Vacancy rates are generally 
low in the area; however the existing stock is generally aging and becoming 
poorer in condition.39 In the future, the release of railway arch land may 
provide further opportunities for accommodating flexible business space at 
low specification and more affordable options for SME businesses. 

3.3.18. The ELR confirms that the local market supply of industrial and warehouse 
property in the borough has been declining in recent years as land has been 
lost to other uses. This has occurred where there has been a lack of demand 
for sites/premises, mostly for B2 (industry), where they are outside the main 
employment areas. Despite the supply of industrial and manufacturing 
premises declining, there is still demand for new high specification B8 
(warehousing and distribution) premises. The decline in B2 premises is linked 
to economic change and the trend of disappearing manufacturing companies 
from inner London. The increase in demand for B8 stock can be partly linked 
to the increase in the central London office market and its supply needs. 

39 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016: GLA/Southwark Council 
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3.3.19. The 2014 Southwark Industrial and Warehousing Land Study acknowledges 
that there are structural changes to Southwark’s industrial employment and 
use of industrial land. For example, the study found that the use of industrial 
sites in Southwark is diversifying, with a decline in the traditional 
manufacturing sector and (relatively) higher-value activities, which have a 
higher employment density and are focused on serving central London, are 
taking their place. Businesses, primarily smaller, productive businesses are 
moving from other parts of London into Southwark, with certain clusters 
forming in certain areas. Technology, such as computer aided design and 
manufacturing is having a “democratising” effect, supporting a new generation 
of “makers.” The study concludes that the presence of industrial land capacity 
should be seen as a significant positive in attracting this sector, which is seen 
to be a key component of London’s future knowledge based economy. 
However, it is also acknowledged that the right type of industrial/employment 
floor space to meet the needs of this sector is in short supply in London, 
especially in locations with good accessibility.40 

3.3.20. In 2006 the borough had approximately 389,000sqm of B2 floor space, with 
the majority located in the Old Kent Road and South East Bermondsey PILs. 
In the same year Southwark contained approximately 602,000sqm of B8 floor 
space. In 2008 this reduced to 357,000sqm of B2 and 594,000sqm of B8.57 
The ELR estimates that Southwark can afford to release between 16.7ha and 
23.7ha of industrial and warehousing land between 2011 and 2026. Between 
2006 and 2010, the borough had already experienced a net loss of 24.9 
hectares of B2/B8 land. The 2011-2031 quantum of industrial land release 
recommended for Southwark set out in the Mayor’s Land for Industry and 
Transport SPG (2012) amounts to a further 25 ha over this period.41 

Industrial/Warehouse and Distribution development 

3.3.21. Between 2011/12 and 2013/14 Southwark saw a net increase of 190 sqm of 
B2 floor space. Between 2004/05 and 2013/14 only one year (2006-07) saw a 
net loss of B2 floor space of close to 2000 sqm. 2009/10 and 2012/13 both 
saw net increases of over 1,400sqm and 190 sqm, respectively. No other 
years since 2004/05 saw a net change in B2 floor space provision.42 

40 Industrial and Warehousing Land Study 2014, GVA: 
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/downloads/download/3908/industry_and_warehousing_land_study_2014 
41 Land for Industry and Transport SPG: https://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/planning/publications/land-
for-industry-and-transport-spg 
42 London Development Database 
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3.3.22. B8 (warehousing and distribution) floor space has seen significant losses over 
the past three financial years, with close to 29,000 sqm lost through 
redevelopment. This equates to 2.9ha and is below the suggested guideline 
release rate of between 1.1 ha and 1.5 ha per year. Southwark still protects 
this type of employment space through planning policy in the PILs. The 
majority of developments resulting in a B8 loss were outside of PILs. These 
developments included the creation of a mix of uses. This has included new 
provision of retail, offices, gallery space and/or homes. 15 of the 30 of the 
developments with a loss of B8 floor space completed in the past three 
financial years have been in the SE1 area. This includes development around 
Long Lane and Bermondsey Street, and change of use in some of the many 
railway arches and industrial estates.43 

3.3.23. Around the opportunity area there will be increasing demand for office space 
(given growth in professional and technical sectors) and for flexible, good 
quality light industrial or hybrid space to serve the growing CAZ service 
economy.44 This is a growing trend in the ‘industrial’ sector, where new space 
is required to a higher specification, with flexible space and office content, 
often also allowing for computer aided design manufacturing. 

3.3.24. The 2010 ELR identifies that whilst industrial space is generally declining, the 
level of demand remains strong. The decline in B2 premises is linked to 
economic change and the trend of disappearing manufacturing companies 
from inner London. The on-going demand reflective of the changing nature of 
industrial activity away from the traditional manufacturing and heavy based 
industry towards distribution and sectors servicing the central London 
economy (e.g. building services, catering, cleaning). These sectors are 
popular in the Old Kent Road and the space is more generally reflected of this 
change from the traditional industrial sector.45 

Retail and commercial floorspace 

3.3.25. Old Kent Road has a total of 31,600 sqm of retail floor space, including 
11,800 sqm of convenience goods floorspace and 19,800 sqm of comparison 
goods floorspace. Additionally the area accommodates 2,000 sqm of 
floorspace in the food and beverage sector.46 Old Kent Road contains a 
number of retail parks and retail warehouses with associated car parking 
(accommodating stores such as Toys R Us, B&Q and Argos). The larger 
“superstore” supermarkets (over 2,500 sqm of retail floorspace) include Tesco 
and Asda, along with both Aldi and Lidl stores representing the discount food 
sector. Results of the household survey undertaken as part of the Southwark 
Retail Study (2015) suggest the Old Kent Road is one of the dominant 
destinations in the borough for comparison shopping. Retail units along the 
Old Kent Road account for just under 19% of the comparison sales 
floorspace. 

3.3.26. Old Kent Road is situated between the three major town centres at Southwark 
which are partially defined by the existing amount of retail floor space. These 
include Peckham (50,000 sqm), Elephant and Castle/Walworth Road (35,000 
sqm) and Canada Water (30,000 sqm). The district centres of 
Borough/Bankside/London Bridge are located to the far north west of the Old 

43 London Development Database 
44 Industry and Warehousing Land Study (2014) GVA: 
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/downloads/download/3908/industry_and_warehousing_land_study_2014 
45 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016: GLA/Southwark Council 
46 Southwark Retail Study, 2015, NLP 
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Kent Road and the local centre of the Blue in Bermondsey situated to the 
north east. Presently the area does not contain any designations for town 
centres however there are two protected shopping frontages around the East 
Street/Old Kent Road junction and the Peckham Park Road/Old Kent Road 
junction. The New Southwark Plan (currently at Preferred Options stage) also 
proposes a new local town centre to the north of Old Kent Road around the 
existing retail area.  

3.3.27. Old Kent Road is also a major comparison goods shopping destination in the 
borough, including a range of predominantly bulky goods retail units. 

Retail spending patterns and forecasts 

3.3.28. Across the borough, 48% of residents do their main food shopping by car, 
compared with 32% for non-food shopping. This is relatively low when 
compared with other parts of London. The Old Kent Road in particular is well 
served by superstores with car parking however high street comparison 
shopping is limited. The bulky goods retail warehouse sector that is prevalent 
on Old Kent Road has seen limited growth in recent years as following 
general trend across the country.  

Future retail expenditure and floor space demand 

3.3.29. There is over 50,000 sqm of floorspace projected to be required across the 
borough up to 2031 comprising a majority of comparison goods floorspace 
(34,000 sqm), accompanied by a proportion of convenience goods floorspace 
(7,500 sqm) and the food and beverage sector (9,300 sqm). 44% of this 
projected floorspace is expected to be delivered in the Southwark North East 
zone 2 which includes significant regeneration and retail space to be provided 
at Canada Water.47 

3.3.30. The Old Kent Road has significant potential to accommodate a growth in 
population and an accompanying requirement for new town centres and a 
significant quantum of new retail space. Depending on the area’s population 
in 2031, the area could accommodate convenience and comparison goods 
space in addition to units in Class A3, A4 and A5 uses.  In addition to the local 
centre at the northern end of Old Kent Road, there is the potential for a new 
town centre in the south of the area, centred around existing retail areas and 
the potential for new underground rail stations or hubs of new development.  

Food/Beverage and Other Town Centre Uses 

3.3.31. The food and beverage sector is growing in the UK with a significant increase 
in the number of national multiple chains catering for speedy-eating, on-the-
go food, and casual, leisure dining and drinking. The current UK average for 
Goad town centres indicates that 14.7% of units are in Class A3/A5 
(restaurants, café and takeaway) and 2.9% of units are Class A4 (public 
houses/bars). 

3.3.32. In Southwark, there is currently a more balanced mix of commercial uses 
within the designated town centres. Peckham has the highest proportion of A1 
retail and services (71%) with a low proportion of drinking establishments 
(1.3%). 66% of units in Elephant and Castle/Walworth Road are A1. There is 

47 Southwark Retail Study, 2015, NLP 
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a smaller proportion of A1 units in Canada Water town centre (at 57%). The 
district town centres have a higher proportion of units in A3/A4/A5 units, 
totalling 34.4%, whilst local centres total 23%.  

 
3.3.33. Presently, the Old Kent Road and areas of existing retail around Peckham 

Park Road and East Street deliver 42.3% of A1 retail, 9.5% of A2 (financial 
and professional services), 13% of A3 (cafes and restaurants), 1.4% of A4 
(drinking establishments) and 6% of A5 (hot food takeaways). The remaining 
27.8% of units were identified as within other uses such as offices or 
residential, vacant or sui generis uses.48 

 
3.3.34. It is estimated that Southwark will need an additional 9,300 sqm (gross) of 

food and beverage floor space by 2031 to meet demand. Depending on the 
future population of the area and its potential designation within the town 
centre hierarchy, the Old Kent Road also has the potential to increase its food 
and beverage offering.  

 
Development of Commercial (Use Class A1, A2, A3, A4, A5) Floor Space 

 
3.3.35. There has been relatively little development in recent years in terms of new 

retail floorspace in the opportunity area as many of the retail parks and 
supermarkets are well established. In the high street retail areas, the shops 
and services serve a local need where clusters of shops are already 
established.  

  
Hotels and Serviced Apartments 

 
3.3.36. With London being one of the most visited cities in the world, a significant part 

of its economy and employment capacity is defined by the tourism sector. To 
maintain this important part of the city’s economy, it is essential that there are 
enough hotel rooms to meet demand. It is estimated that there were 112,300 
serviced rooms in London in 2010.49 The GLA’s Hotel Demand Study (2006) 
showed that Southwark could expect to deliver 2,500 new hotel rooms 
between 2007 and 2026.50 Between 2007/08 and 2013/14, 1,956 new hotel 
rooms (including serviced apartments) were delivered in the borough51, 
accounting for 78% of the estimated 20 year requirement in 7 years. An 
updated review on the supply and demand for hotel rooms has revised 
potential demand in Southwark’s down to 1,800 rooms between 2013 and 
2036. This equates to an average of 138 rooms per year. 

 
3.3.37. During 2013/14, two new hotels/serviced apartment complexes and two hotel 

expansions were competed, delivering a total of 172 rooms. Between 2011/12 
and 2013/14, 7 new hotels/serviced apartment complexes were completed, 
and three existing hotels were expanded, bringing the total amount of rooms 
to 1,162. The overwhelming majority of these have been in the SE1 area. The 
Old Kent Road currently only has one hotel (the Eurotraveller budget hotel). 
However it has the potential to deliver new hotel space particularly as a result 
of the potential extension to the Bakerloo Line. 

 

                                                
48 Old Kent Road Employment Study 2016: GLA/Southwark Council 
49 Understanding the Demand for and Supply of Visitor Accommodation in London to 2036, GLA: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/business-economy/publications/gla-economics/understanding-the-
demand-for-and-supply-of-visitor-accommodation 
50 Hotel Demand Study, GLA:  http://legacy.london.gov.uk/mayor/planning/docs/hotel-demand-study.pdf 
51 London Development Database 
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Commercial Leisure Uses 

3.3.38. Commercial leisure uses (also known as Use Class D2 – “assembly and 
leisure”) includes cinemas, theatres, bowling, bingo halls, health and fitness 
clubs. There is a high concentration of such uses in the north of the borough, 
particularly in a larger scale in Canada Water as part of the Surrey Quays 
Leisure Park. These types of uses and facilities can greatly enhance the 
liveability of a place and are an important part of the borough’s cultural and 
entertainment and leisure offering.  

3.3.39. The Old Kent Road is host to a number of smaller, creative spaces including 
artists studios and exhibition space however residents would need to travel 
outside the area to visit the theatres, cinemas and other large leisure venues. 

3.3.40. Southwark’s three cinemas are located at Surrey Quays Leisure Park, 
Peckham Multiplex and Short Wave in Bermondsey Square. There are 
currently three cinemas with planning permission in the borough in Dulwich in 
the south, at Canada Water and as part of the redevelopment of the former 
Castle Industrial Estate on New Kent Road. There are two bingo halls, in 
Elephant and Castle and Surrey Quays. 

3.3.41. Health and fitness clubs have expanded rapidly as public awareness about 
personal fitness has increased. The provision of health and fitness facilities 
can be, amongst other factors, a key determinant in increasing the opportunity 
to improve health and well-being through regular exercise. Southwark is well 
served by health and fitness facilities evenly throughout the whole of the 
borough. In total there are 11 private health clubs alongside 8 Southwark 
Council operated leisure centres. The new Castle leisure centre at Elephant 
and Castle is currently being redeveloped and will open in spring 2015. 
Camberwell leisure centre was recently refurbished to provide improved 
facilities including a youth centre area. The nearest local authority owned 
sports centres to OKR are the Camberwell Leisure Centre, the Seven Islands 
Leisure Centre and the Peckham Pulse Healthy Living Centre. There are a 
few private health clubs around the Old Kent Road area itself, the only one on 
the road is the Miami Health Club.  

3.3.42. There has been little other large Class D2 development along the Old Kent 
Road in recent years with the exception of the reprovision of a community 
centre as a result of redevelopment at Avondale Square.52 

3.4. ENVIRONMENT CONDITIONS 

Climate change and Carbon Dioxide 

3.4.1. Available scientific evidence supports the current understanding that global 
warming causes climate change. If global emissions of greenhouse gases 
due to human activity continue at today’s levels, then average global 
temperatures could rise by 4°C by as early as 2060 and up to 6°C by the end 
of this centuryi. This has an adverse impact on weather patterns (including 
rainfall intensities and frequencies), and effort needs to be made to address 
this. 

52 London Development Database (records schemes of over 1,000 sqm of floorspace unless information 
entered otherwise). 
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3.4.2. Carbon is emitted when fossil fuels are burnt. The table below gives a 
breakdown of where Carbon emissions come from in the borough. 

Table 3.7 
Built Environment 84% Transport 16% 
Work places 54% Cars and 

motorcycles 
8% 

Homes 30% Freight 4% 
Public transport 3% 
Taxis 1% 

Source: Southwark Energy and Carbon Reduction Strategy 2011 

3.4.3. In 2006, Southwark adopted a climate change strategy that aimed to reduce 
CO2 emissions across the borough by 80% by 2050 and to pursue a 
decentralised energy strategy for the borough. Since then, climate change 
has risen considerably up the political agenda. In 2008, the government set 
legally binding reduction targets (34% by 2020 and 80% by 2050 on 1990 
levels) and a new set of policies and financial mechanisms have been 
developed to effect the change required. However, since 2006 the economic 
downturn occurred and little movement has been recorded in the level of 
borough emissions. The council target set in 2006 was highly ambitious and 
based on optimistic assessments of the various energy reductions scenarios 
in existence at the time, and the capacity of the council and partners to 
deliver. Whilst the 2006 target remains the Council’s long term goal, a set of 
interim targets were agreed by the Council in 2011, which reflect the current 
financial climate and give a clearer view of the energy reduction measures 
that are implementable in the medium term. 

3.4.4. The proposed new targets are set out in the right hand column of the table 
below; 

Table 3.8 CO2 Baseline data 
2003, 2005, 2008/9 

Baseline 
(tCO2) 

Current 
(tCO2) 

Original 
target 

Percentage 
Reduction 
to date 

New 
proposed 
target 

Council – 
operational 
estate and 
schools 
(2008/9 baseline) 

41, 036 37, 441 N/a 8.4% 26.6% 
reduction 
by 2016 

Council Housing 
(2005 baseline) 

202,800 187,850 N/a 6.7% 15% by 
2022 

Borough 

(2003 baseline) 

1, 690 000 1, 671,020 80% 
reduction 
by 2050 

1.1% 22.4% 
reduction 
by 2020 

Source: Southwark Energy and Carbon Reduction Strategy 2011 

3.4.5. Progress against carbon reduction targets over time is not currently available 
at the scale of the opportunity area. However, a snapshot comparison with 
other areas of energy consumption (except transport) driving CO2 emissions 
is shown in the table below. The opportunity area outperforms the borough, 
regional and national averages for consumption by meter point. Non-domestic 
energy consumption is significantly lower in the area. In the absence of 



35 

current initiatives specific to this area this is likely to reflect the nature of local 
business premises and activities. 

Table 3.9 Energy consumption 
2013 

Mean domestic 
electicity 
consumption / 
kWh per meter 

Mean non-
domestic 
electicity 
consumption / 
kWh per meter 

Mean domestic 
gas 
consumption / 
kWh per meter 

Mean non-
domestic gas 
consumption / 
kWh per meter 

OKR 
Opportunity 
area 

3,321 17,478 9,122 476,554 

Southwark 3,465 68,631 10,364 674,715 
London 3,809 68,998 13,647 491,159 
England 3,963 74,037 13,660 642,539 
Source: Department for Energy and Climate Change53

3.4.6. The Mayor supports the greater use of renewable and low carbon generation 
technologies, and has set a target for London to generate 25 per cent of its 
heat and power requirements through the use of local, decentralised energy 
(DE) systems by 2025. DE generates power at point of use, making more 
efficient use of primary energy by utilising generated heat that would 
otherwise be wasted in large-scale thermal power generation plants. The 
scale of opportunity can vary from Combing Heat and Power (CHP) systems 
on specific development sites, through town centre wide district energy 
projects. 

3.4.7. All new major developments are expected to meet the targets set out below. 
These targets are expressed as minimum improvements over the Target 
Emission Rate (TER) outlined in the national Building Regulations leading to 
zero carbon residential buildings from 2016 and zero carbon non-domestic 
buildings from 2019. 

Residential buildings: 
Year   Improvement on 2010 Building Regulations 
2013 – 2016 40 per cent  
2016 – 2031 Zero carbon 

Non-domestic buildings: 
Year   Improvement on 2010 Building Regulations 
2013 – 2016 40 per cent  
2016 – 2019 As per building regulations requirements 
2019 – 2031 Zero carbon 

3.4.8. The Mayor has outlined in the Climate Change Mitigation and Energy 
Strategy projections for the installation of different renewable energy 
technologies to increase London’s generation of both electricity and heat from 
such sources up to 2031. The Government has adopted a UK wide target for 
15 per cent of total energy to be generated by renewable sources by 2020, 
and these projections represent London’s contribution to this 2020 target and 
beyond. In Southwark, there is a presumption that all major development 
proposals will seek to reduce carbon dioxide emissions by at least 20 per cent 
through the use of on-site renewable energy generation wherever feasible. 

53 Sub-national energy consumption statistics, Department for Energy and Climate Change [opportunity 
area domestic averages taken from best fit LSOAs and non-domestic from MSOAs containing the 
opportunity area] 
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Development proposals should seek to utilise renewable energy technologies 
such as: biomass heating; cooling and electricity; renewable energy from 
waste; photovoltaics; solar water heating; wind and heat pumps. 

3.4.9. National Grid’s high voltage electricity overhead transmission lines / 
underground cables within Southwark’s administrative area form an essential 
part of the electricity transmission network in England and Wales including a 
275kV underground cable from Newcross substation (on the Old Kent Road) 
in Southwark to Wimbledon substation in Wandsworth as well as existing gas 
olders on the same site on the Old Kent Road. 

3.4.10. London’s transport-related CO2 emissions are predicted to fall by 16% by 
2025, despite projected population and employment growth in excess of 10%. 
Drivers of this reduction include the on-going long-term trend of vehicle fuel 
efficiency improvements driven by EU legislation, regional measures to drive 
modal shift, the decarbonisation of grid electricity and related incentives for 
electric vehicles and UK policy to increase the share of bio-fuel in transport 
fuel from 5 to 10% in the lead up to the 2020 renewables target. The council 
already has a comprehensive focus on encouraging modal shift. This includes 
managing demand via car clubs, investing in cycling and walking 
infrastructure, cycle parking and working with public transport providers; 
encouraging sustainable travel choices through school and workplace travel 
plans and encouraging smarter driving to reduce emissions and improve air 
quality. 

Water Resources and quality 

3.4.11. London’s consumption of water already outstrips available supplies in dry 
years and ensuring a sustainable and secure water supply has to be an 
urgent priority. Some steps have already been taken. To remain sustainable 
London needs to reduce the level of water consumption per person. Currently 
the average Londoner consumes 164 litres/day (l/d) around 20 l/d, above the 
national average of 150 l/d. Projections for population growth in London and 
in the wider south-east will mean that new strategic water resources will be 
required. The need for this is exacerbated by the climate change predictions 
of more sporadic and intense rainfall and a higher likelihood of droughts, as 
well as the need to protect the water environment following Water Framework 
Directive requirements. 

3.4.12. Thames Water currently supplies water to Southwark.  Thirty-five per cent of 
the water Thames water supplies is pumped from natural underground 
reservoirs called aquifers. The other 65 per cent is pumped from rivers. 
However, the vast majority of river water is supplied from aquifers, making 
groundwater the most important source of water. 

3.4.13. Currently, all mains water is treated to drinking standard. This is an expensive 
and energy intensive process, particularly considering that at least 40% of 
water consumed in homes and workplaces does not need to be of drinkable 
quality (for example water used for flushing toilets, washing laundry and 
watering parks and gardens). The current policy target for major housing 
development is to achieve a potable water use target of 105 litres per person 
per day. 

3.4.14. The council is committed to implementing initiatives to reduce water demand 
which would include implementing methods for efficiently using local 
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groundwater resources where possible for non-potable uses across the 
borough.   

3.4.15. Influencing consumer behaviour is recognised as being vital to the success of 
an integrated water management programme and in this regard the Council 
are working closely with the GLA, the Environment Agency, Thames Water 
and its community to promote water saving schemes and education 
programmes.  In addition, initiatives to eliminate leakage associated with aged 
pipe work are planned.  There will also need to be significant investment in 
new potable and non-potable water distribution mains. 

Waste management 

3.4.16. Government has set targets for local authorities to increase recycling rates 
and reduce the amount of waste going to landfill. The Mayor has also set 
waste targets for boroughs through the London Plan including the need to 
allocate enough land to process at least 243,000 tonnes (municipal as well as 
commercial) of waste by 2016, at least 275,000 tonnes by 2021 and at least 
343,000 tonnes of waste by 2031.  This will help meet the London-wide target 
of processing at least 85% of the city’s waste within London by 2020. 

3.4.17. Southwark’s Waste Management Strategy, 2003-2021 sets out the council’s 
proposals for moving Southwark towards more sustainable waste 
management. The key features include: 

 A reduction in the amount of municipal solid waste generated in Southwark to
below 3% by 2005, and below 2% by 2010. In real terms, due to population
growth the absolute amount of waste will rise but the strategy aims to deliver
a decrease in the actual rate of growth.

 Achievement of 30% recycling and composting standards for household
waste by 2010-11 and 40% by 2015-16 and 50% standards by 2020-21

 Recovery of value from 45% of municipal solid waste by 2010-11, 67% by
2015-16 and 75% by 2020-21.

Table 3.10 Current Waste Management Performance 
2010-2013 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Total household waste collected (tonnes) 110,236 106,121 111,081 

Recycling and composting rate (%) 25.14% 27.43% 30.41% 

Amount of municipal waste diverted from landfill 
  

63.34% 79.65% 69.49% 

3.4.18. To help deliver the council's strategic goals, a 25 year PFI contract was 
entered into in 2008 between the council and Veolia Environmental Services. 
Under the terms of the integrated contract, Veolia undertake all our waste and 
recycling collection, treatment and disposal operations.  

3.4.19. An integrated waste management facility is located in the opportunity 
area, and is being operated by Veolia. It is currently providing the required 
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improvement in waste infrastructure identified by the council in its strategy. It 
is made up of several different facilities, including: Mechanical Biological 
Treatment Plant to treat residual waste; Materials Recovery Facility to sort 
commingled recyclables; Reuse and Recycling Centre for residents to deposit 
a wide range of items of household waste and recycling; Waste transfer 
station; Recycling Discovery Centre (Education Centre). The facility will help 
to meet Southwark’s waste apportionment targets whilst it is in operation by 
processing 88,350 tonnes of waste per annum with the potential to treat 
further waste by converting it into biomass fuel. Redevelopment of the facility 
would require re-provision of the same waste management services on 
another site within London.  

Flood Risk 

3.4.20. The primary sources of flood risk in the borough are surface water, 
groundwater, tidal, failure of water mains and sewers. Historically, there have 
been some recorded tidal flooding incidents from the River Thames dating as 
far back as 1828 to vulnerable communities.  

3.4.21. The majority of the opportunity area is within the Thames flood plain, within 
the indicative flood zone 3, which has the highest level of risk. However, it 
should be noted that all of the land in the borough is defended by the Thames 
Barrier and defences so that the risk from tidal flooding is a residual risk.  

3.4.22. There is little opportunity to direct development to areas of low flood risk 
(flood zone 1) so new development will need to be directed to sites where the 
risk of flooding is appropriate to the “vulnerability” of the land use proposed.   

3.4.23. The Thames Catchment Flood Management Plan and Thames Estuary 2100 
Project will help manage flood risk from the Thames over then next 50 to 100 
years. Whilst the Thames Barrier and flood walls along the riverside provide a 
degree of protection, consideration needs to be given to their potential failure 
or inability to contain very high floods as a result of climate change. 

3.4.24. The council is commissioning an updated Strategic Flood Risk Assessment to 
reassess the risk to the borough from all sources of flooding and to assess 
the impact new development. 

Local Flood Risk 

3.4.25. Climate change can affect local flood risk in several ways. Impacts will 
depend on local conditions and vulnerability. More intense rainfall causes 
more surface runoff, increasing localised flooding and erosion. In turn, this 
may increase pressure on drains, sewers and water quality. As London has 
become densely populated, green spaces such as gardens and parks act as 
sponges for rainwater but in very heavy rain these can quickly become 
saturated creating a ‘run off’ of excess water. 

3.4.26. The Council has undertaken a Surface Water Management Plan for the whole 
borough which includes consideration of flooding from sewers, drains, 
groundwater and runoff from land, small watercourses and ditches that occurs 
as a result of heavy rainfall. 

3.4.27. The southeastern end of the opportunity area is located in the East Southwark 
Critical Drainage Area. Surface water in the area generally flows from south to 
north and follows the old watercourse of the River Peck. A substantial amount 
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of ponding occurs in the Brimmington Park area near the Gas Holder Station, 
and also around Commercial Way, Naylor Road, Asylum Road and Clifton 
Avenue. The railway embankment worsens flooding in some areas. Pluvial 
modelling indicates an area of deeper ponding to the south of Old Kent Road, 
identified as a Local Flood Risk Zone. Surface water from Peckham Rye flows 
north along the course of the ‘lost’ River Peck, to this area, with depths of 
flooding up to 1m for the 1 in 100 year levels of rainfall.  

 
3.4.28. Southwark Council is responsible for managing the risk of flooding from 

surface and ground water in the borough. Thames Water is responsible for 
maintaining the sewer network across London. Together the Council and 
Thames Water are working in partnership, with the support of the 
Environment Agency.  
 

3.4.29. The Southwark Local Flood Risk Management Strategy was adopted by the 
Council on 18 August 2015.  The strategy details how the council will manage 
the risk of flooding arising from surface water, groundwater and ordinary 
water courses across the borough consistent with the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 and the National Flood Risk Management Strategy. It 
will ensure that flooding risks are well managed in a coordinated way to 
balance the needs of communities, the economy and the environment. 

 
 Sewerage 
 
3.4.30. The volume and frequency of untreated sewage overflowing into the River 

Thames is unacceptable and contravenes the European Urban Wastewater 
Treatment Directive.  Thames Water has a programme to replace old 
Victorian Water mains and they are planning to build the Thames Tideway 
Tunnel, a 25 km tunnel which would run underneath London which will help to 
reduce the amount of sewerage overflowing into the river.  The proposed 
route for the main tunnel will follow the route of the River Thames from Acton 
to Limehouse, where it then continues north-east to Abbey Mills Pumping 
Station near Stratford. There it will be connected to the Lee Tunnel, which will 
transfer the sewage to Beckton Sewage Treatment Works.  A total of 24 sites 
in London are required to construct and operate the project. 

 
3.4.31. The tunnel would be connected to approximately 34 'combined sewer 

overflows' (CSOs) which currently release raw sewage into the Thames after 
heavy rain fall.  The proposed tunnel would intercept these sewage 
discharges and transfer them to the Beckton Sewage Treatment Works. The 
aim is to improve water quality in the Thames. The CSOs will still be needed 
after the Thames Tideway Tunnel has been built to direct flows to the River 
Thames in exceptional circumstances when the new tunnel system is full. 
This is only expected to occur very occasionally. 

 
Air Quality 

 
3.4.32. The opportunity area has particularly high levels of air pollution, mainly 

caused by traffic. It lies within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and 
contains an Air Quality Focus Area (AQFA), one of the areas worst affected 
by air quality54. The map below indicates the varying levels of air pollution 
across the opportunity area, with the concentration of one pollutant - NO2.  
  

                                                
54 Southwark Air quality Improvement Strategy (2012-2017) and Action Plan 
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3.4.34. The most significant local pollutants, NOx and PM10, are mainly associated 
with vehicular emissions, especially those of buses, lorries, coaches and 
taxis. It is envisaged that these pollutants will reduce significantly over the 
next 15 years, through initiatives such as the London Low Emission Zone 
which covers the opportunity area, limiting access to heavy vehicles that can 
demonstrate compliance with strict emissions criteria and technological 
advances in reducing exhaust emissions. 

3.4.35. The establishment of an Air Quality Strategy and Improvement Plan (AQSIP) 
for Southwark has been undertaken. Southwark is required to periodically 
review and assess the effectiveness of the AQSIP. The latest progress report 
indicates that concentrations within the AQMA continue to exceed the 
objectives for Nitrogen Dioxide and Particulate Matter (PM10) at roadside 
locations. The opportunity area contains one of the Council’s monitoring 
stations on the Old Kent Road, which indicated rising annual mean NO2 
concentrations from 2011 to 2013 and that there are potential exceedences of 
the NO2 hourly mean AQS objective. The 24-hourly mean objective for 
Particulate Matter (PM10) was also exceeded but the current trend is unclear. 
The report also identifies that new development in the opportunity area will 
require further consideration in the next round of Updating and Screening 
Assessment. 56 

3.4.36. Concentrations are not simply a function of the level of traffic but determined 
to a significant degree by congestion.  The greatest traffic flows in Southwark 
are on the A2 towards Walworth Road east and south of the Elephant and 
Castle respectively.  Although concentrations are high the along these roads, 
concentrations along roads with fewer vehicles are comparable, due to 
increased congestion.57 

3.4.37. The Mayor has also published a Transport Emissions road map which 
focuses on how to reduce emissions from ground based transport in London. 
The Mayor will introduce an Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in Central 
London. The ULEZ will cover the Congestion Charging Zone and come into 
effect from 2020. The ULEZ will set an emissions requirement for all types of 
vehicles entering central London with charges for noncompliance, 
discouraging all but the cleanest vehicles. The Mayor’s Transport Emissions 
road map has identified an opportunity to apply the principles of the ULEZ in 
other areas of London. This could be in the form of Low Emission 
Neighbourhoods (LENs), which would be targeted in local hotspot areas of 
poor air quality. 

Noise 

3.4.38. Environmental Noise arising from transport and industry is an inevitable 
consequence of a vibrant urban society. Noise is subjective and different 
people react to it in different ways and what can cause annoyance to some 
people maybe barely noticeable for others. As the noise level increases it can 
interrupt conversation and disturb sleep. In general, noise can be classified 
into fairly broad categories; occupational noise, which is experienced at work, 
neighbour and neighbourhood noise, and environmental (ambient) noise. 

56 2013 Air Quality Progress Report for London Borough of Southwark 
57 Southwark Air quality Improvement Strategy (2012-2017) and Action Plan 





43 

its effects, including noise reduction if necessary, in the context of 
government policy on sustainable development. Noise Action Plans are based 
on the results of the strategic noise maps published in 2008.  These Action 
Plans include details of the process for identifying important areas (noise 
‘hotspots’) and an approach for identifying and managing quiet areas in 
agglomerations. 

3.4.40. Managing noise includes improving and enhancing the acoustic environment 
and promoting appropriate soundscapes. Noise management includes 
promoting good acoustic design of buildings whenever opportunities arise. It 
will include traditional and innovative noise reduction measures in otherwise 
unacceptable situations. 

3.4.41. The following maps show the noise levels associated with road and rail in the 
opportunity area and the localised areas where it is important to manage 
noise impacts. 

Soil and contaminated land 

3.4.42. Contamination of land may threaten public health and safety, the natural 
environment, the built environment and economic activities, through its 
impacts on the users of the land, and on neighbouring users. The presence of 
contamination can affect or restrict the beneficial use of land, although 
development presents an opportunity to deal with it. Land contamination, or 
the possibility of it, is therefore a material planning consideration in the 
preparation of development plan documents and in taking decisions on 
individual planning applications. 

3.4.43. "Contaminated Land" is defined in the Environmental Protection Act (1990) 
(with amendments made in the Environment Act 1995 (Part 2A) and the 
Radioactive Contaminated Land (Modification of Enactments)(England) 
Regulations 2006) as: “Any land which appears to the local authority in whose 
area it is situated to be in such a condition, by reason of substances in on or 
under the land, that: Significant harm is being caused or there is a significant 
possibility of such harm being caused; or Pollution of controlled waters is 
being, or is likely to be caused” 

3.4.44. The real or perceived costs of treatment/remediation can act as significant 
barriers to successful development, particularly if the contamination issues 
and their solutions are not identified early and integrated into the scheme for 
development of the site. Where land is affected by contamination, 
development can provide an opportunity to address the problem for the 
benefit of the wider community and bring the land back into beneficial use. 

3.4.45. In practice, most sites with a previous potentially contaminating history are 
remediated to a condition suitable for use under the planning regime rather 
than the Part 2A legislation. Part 2A legislation would not normally be applied 
to sites remediated as suitable for use under the planning process. 

3.4.46. The redevelopment of previously developed sites is central to the 
achievement of the Government’s objective of ensuring sustainable 
development. Such development minimises the need to develop ‘greenfield’ 
land. 
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Open Space  
 
3.4.47. Southwark is a borough that has a wealth of open space of different types 

including woodland, parks, community farms, Thames-side paths, and sports 
pitches. The survey of open spaces we prepared for our Open Space 
Strategy (2013) identified 215 open spaces in the borough which together 
comprise some 605.5 hectares of land, around 21% of the total land area in 
the borough. Around 58% are publically accessible. The opportunity area is 
mainly located in the Bermondsey & Old Kent Road sub-area, where only 
2.5% of the land area is open space, of which 78.5% is publically 
accessible.59  

 
3.4.48. The following table illustrates the projected levels of different types of open 

space provision in the sub-area compared to the borough average. The 
downward trend in provision relates to a growing population and restricted 
opportunities for new open space. Provision across the different typologies 
within the sub-area is below average for Southwark. 

 
Table 3.11 Open Space Supply per Population 
2011 
 Parks / ha per 

1,000 
population 

Natural Green 
Space  / ha per 
1,000 
population 

Allotments and 
Community 
Gardens  / ha 
per 1,000 
population 

Outdoor Sports 
Facilities  / ha 
per 1,000 
population 

 2011 2026 2011 2026 2011 2026 2011 2026 
Bermondsey 
& Old Kent 
Road 

0.25 0.2 0.36 0.29 0.03 0.03 - - 

Southwark 0.91 0.76 1.79 1.51 0.06 0.05 0.6 0.5 
Source: Southwark Open Space Strategy Evidence Base, 2012 
 
3.4.49. The Open Space Strategy takes account of needs and surveys of the quality 

and value of open spaces and sets local standards for Southwark up to 2026. 
In addition each sub-area has its own profile and strategy. In Bermondsey & 
Old Kent Road, the Old Kent Road is identified as a severance barrier to 
access to open space. The area is characterised by small parks, a large 
population and a dense built environment but with large open spaces on its 
borders at Southwark Park and Burgess Park. Over 83% of homes are 
estimated to have no access to private open space. The proposals for the 
area are to introduce natural green space to existing open spaces; improve 
access to Burgess Park, Southwark Park and the Thames Path; look for 
opportunities to increase park provision; and to enhance existing open 
spaces, shown on the following plan. 

 
3.4.50. The Preferred Option version of the New Southwark Plan October 2015 

proposes the allocation of an additional 2.46 ha as sites of importance for 
nature conservation in the Bermondsey & Old Kent Road sub-area, increasing 
the supply of recognised and protected natural green space. A 0.05 ha 
community garden is also proposed for allocation as protected open space, 
which was not included in the Open Space Strategy evidence.  

 
3.4.51. The Open Space Strategy identified at least 797 people on the waiting list for 

allotment spaces in the borough. At most sites, the waiting list is up to 10 

                                                
59 Southwark Open Space Strategy Evidence Base, 2012 
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years, although there may be a limited number of sites where waiting lists are 
around 1-2 years.  

Figure 3.7 Bermondsey & Old Kent Road sub-area open space strategy 
Source: Southwark Open Space Strategy 2013 

3.4.52. There is a clear need for additional food-growing space to meet unmet 
demand. Allotments in their traditional sense represent space for food 
growing which are essentially restricted to single ownership. To meet the 
significant levels of unmet demand in the borough there will be a need to 
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identify alternative methods to allotment provision, including shared 
community gardens. 

 
 

Play facilities 
 
3.4.53. Open space provides an important role in serving children’s play needs. It is 

widely acknowledged that the importance of children’s play extends far 
beyond the activity itself. Play contributes towards child development through 
the development of a wide range of physical, social and emotional skills and 
abilities as well as having a positive impact on children’s health. 

 
3.4.54. The Open Space Strategy Evidence Base identified open spaces with 

dedicated play provision in the Bermondsey & Old Kent Road sub-area: 4 
doorstep playable spaces, 7 local equipped areas for play and 2 
neighbourhood equipped areas for play. The increase in population expected 
over the coming years will put pressure on the supply of children’s play space 
and it will be important to ensure that adequate provision for play space is 
made with new developments. Open space at Swanmead has the potential 
for improvements to play equipment.  

 
Biodiversity 

 
3.4.55. Southwark has many natural green spaces and sites of importance for nature 

conservation. The pressure on natural green space within the vicinity of the 
opportunity area is shown in the open space supply data above. Large sites of 
importance for nature conservation adjoin the opportunity area at Burgess 
Park and along the Surrey Canal. Habitat loss is a major concern in the 
borough, with the constant demand for new homes and other buildings 
resulting in sites being lost to development. In addition, local wildlife is still 
under threat. 

 
3.4.56. Southwark’s Biodiversity Action Plan 2013-2019 aims to provide a 

comprehensive overview of the biodiversity in Southwark and a clear direction 
in ensuring it is conserved, managed and enhanced. Birds, stag beetles, bats 
and amphibians are particularly at risk in Southwark. Many species of plants 
and animals are protected under European and national laws, including the 
Habitats Regulations 1994 and The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The 
action plan is designed to be a valuable toolkit that provides a unified strategic 
framework for managing the borough’s natural resources.   

 
Quality in Design and Conservation of Historic Environment 

 
3.4.57. The Old Kent Road is one of Southwark’s distinct, vibrant and connective 

places that comprises of an array of unique architecture and public realm 
located in the north of the borough. The road itself has a long history, a roman 
road and medieval route to Canterbury. Development of the road followed 
periods of industrialisation, commerce and housing growth, through to 20th 
century wartime bombardment and reconstruction. Parts of the road maintain 
high street character, and there are pockets of green spaces, civic and 
educational uses. The area is largely characterised by large industrial and 
commercial units, retail parks and car parking with poor urban grain. However 
there are pockets of conservation areas and finer urban grain around 
commercial units to the south and residential development throughout the 
area.  
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3.4.58. The connectivity to Bermondsey, Elephant and Castle, Walworth, Camberwell 
and Peckham are enabled by the Old Kent Road, characterised by lower 
scale development, with a mixture of Victorian and Edwardian terraces, 
broken up by post-war estates, town centres and some newer housing 
developments.  

3.4.59. Throughout the Old Kent Road there are some attractive and historic 
buildings and sites that reflect Southwark’s rich history adding to the unique 
character and identity of the opportunity area. The following three 
conservation areas fall wholly within the opportunity area: 

CA16 Page’s Walk: Designated 30 June 1985 

3.4.60. Page’s Walk Conservation Area consists of a row of 19th century dwellings 
that backs onto an industrial area divided by Mandela Way, overlooked by 
Guinness Square housing estate and the former Page’s Walk.  

CA23 Glengall Road: Designated 9 July 1971, Extended October 1978 
and September 30 1991 

3.4.61. The Glengall Road Conservation Area is located to the south of the Old Kent 
Road, approximately 350 metres south east of the entrance to Burgess Park. 
Glengall Road was built in the 1840s, comprising of mainly properties. 
Despite the demolition and comprehensive redevelopment of the surrounding 
streets in the 1960s and 1970s the properties remains remarkably intact and 
continue to contribute to the conservation areas distinctive 19 h century 
character. To the west and south are the irregular edges of Burgess Park and 
to the east and north are warehouses, light  industry, builder’s yards and 
garages. The boundaries of the conservation area are therefore well defined 
and emphasis the special character of the area when compared to its 
hinterland. 

CA26 Caroline Gardens: Designated 27 September 1968 

3.4.62. The Caroline Gardens Conservation Area is situated in North Peckham, on 
the west side of Asylum Road.  Asylum Road leads off the southern side of 
the Old Kent Road  and forms the eastern boundary of the Conservation 
Area.  The southern and western boundaries respectively are formed by the 
rear of properties facing onto Studholme Street and Naylor Road.  These are 
relatively quiet residential streets in  comparison to the Old Kent Road (A2), 
which provides one of the main routes through South East London.  The 
Conservation Area boundary is tightly drawn around the complete almshouse 
development, which is physically defined, by its enclosing railings and walls. 

3.4.63. The area is relatively flat, with a gentle slope towards Asylum Road from the 
Old  Kent Road. The grounds in which the almshouse buildings are 
situated are  gently undulating.  In the original laying out of the development 
the central gardens  were sunken with steps leading up to the pathways in 
front of the buildings.  Over  time the ground has been raised but not evenly 
throughout the site and there is still a visible height difference between 
buildings and garden.  

3.4.64. A further five conservation areas encroach the boundary of the Old Kent 
Road; 
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 CA7 Bermondsey Street: Designated 3 January 1973, Extended 23
October 1991, 13 December 1993 and 11 January 2010

 CA17 Thorburn Square: Designated 30 January 1991
 CA21 Coberg Road: Designated 5 February 1980, Extended 22

September 1987
 CA22 Trafalgar Avenue: Designated 5 February 1980, Extended 30

September 1991.
 CA43 Peckham Hill Street Designated 18 October 2011

3.4.65. The approximate distribution of all the conservation areas combined amount 
to just 3.96% of the opportunity area. 

3.4.66. Furthermore, there are also six listed buildings five which are Grade II with St 
Augustine’s Church on Lynton Road listed as a Grade ll* 

3.4.67. Key listed buildings include: 

 Licensed Victuallers Asylum
 Clifton Crescent
 155 Old Kent Road (the White House)
 Old Fire Station
 108-124 Peckham Park Road

3.4.68. The Old Kent Road Archaeological Priority Zone designation (3A), 
Bermondsey Lake APZ (2A) and the London to Lewis Road APZ (8A) covers 
almost the full extent of the opportunity area which may have an immediate 
impact to major schemes which require deep excavation.  

3.4.69. Protecting and enhancing the character and historic value of places are 
important issues to be considered in the future growth and redevelopment of 
Old Kent Road. Well designed buildings and spaces will help improve 
people’s quality of life and make places more attractive. This can also help 
attract businesses to the area. It is important that the design of a development 
is carefully thought through and takes into consideration of how all elements 
of advancement is part of a wider place and how a place’s uniqueness and 
historic value can be used to stimulate regeneration and improvements. 

Transport 

3.4.70. The Old Kent Road provides good road and public transport access to the 
Central Activities Zone (CAZ), facilitating pedestrian, cycling and public 
transport, where the present bus routes that travel along the Old Kent Road 
include the numbers 21, 42, 53, 63, 78, 168, 172, 381, P13, N21, N53 and the 
N381. Old Kent Road is well served by the London underground at Elephant 
and Castle which services the Bakerloo and Northern line in addition to the 
over-ground at South Bermondsey and potentially a proposed new station for 
the East London line at Surrey Canal Road. In 2014 Transport for London 
(TFL) consulted on options for an extension to the Bakerloo Line Extension. In 
January 2016 it was announced that the preferred option for the route is from 
Elephant and Castle to Lewisham via the Old Kent Road. If a decision is 
made to progress the scheme, TFL anticipate construction could commence 
around 2023.   
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3.4.71. The Old Kent Road forms part of TFL highway network (TLRN). The most 
recent monitoring and transport movement In 2011 Southwark adopted its 
Transport Plan.  

3.4.72. Around 60% of all collisions in Southwark occur on the busier roads like 
Borough High Street and the Old Kent Road. In the most recent 3 year period 
47% of all collisions in Southwark occurred on the TLRN. Therefore TFL must 
also play a key role within Southwark to reduce the occurrence of these 
collisions. 

3.4.73. In 2011 Southwark adopted its Transport Plan. The most recent monitoring of 
the transport plan in 2012/13 shows that around 582,000 trips are made every 
day in the borough. Of people living in the borough, the main method of 
transport is walking. The mode share of trips for Southwark residents is: 

 Rail – 8% 
 Underground/DLR – 8% 
 Bus/tram – 24% 
 Taxi/other public – 1% 
 Car/motorcycle – 23% 
 Cycle – 4% 
 Walking – 30% 

3.4.74. A surface transport study for the Old Kent Road will measure the mode share 
in the opportunity area. 

3.4.75. Since 2006 private motor vehicle trips have been decreasing as a percentage 
of the total trips and the percentage of trips on rail and the underground/DLR 
has increased.  Percentage trips on foot and by bus have remained fairly 
stable. Cycling levels in the borough have increased from 3.3% (2008/11 
average) to 4.3% (2009/12 average) which equates to an additional 10,200 
trips by bike per day.  

3.4.76. The number of casualties in which people are killed or seriously injured (KSI) 
appears to be decreasing and number of slight and all casualties has been 
stationary in recent years. Casualties are higher than the inner and greater 
London borough averages. The number of cyclist casualties is increasing in 
line with the growth in cycling. The numbers of accidents over a period of 36 
months to March 2014 on the Old Kent Road are a total of 306 with 1 fatality 
that took place at the junction of Albany Road and the Old Kent Road.60 

3.4.77. The PTAL levels shared along the Old Kent Road descend from level 6a and 
5 at Bricklayers Arms to level 4 on the rest of the opportunity area.  

3.4.78. The objectives of the Southwark Transport Plan include encouraging 
sustainable travel choices and promoting active lifestyles, increasing the 
share of walking and cycling trips, reducing the number of causalities and 
reducing CO2 emissions from road transport. With an increasing population 
and workforce in Southwark, it will be important that development contributes 
towards shaping sustainable travel choices, reducing pollution and improving 
safety in the future. 

60 Transport for London 
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5. DEVELOPING THE INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT
FRAMEWORK

5.1. Introduction 

5.1.1. The likely impacts of the AAP/OAPF will be identified using a set of 
objectives, which relate to the existing and emerging strategic vision for the 
opportunity area. The objectives reflect the current social, economic and 
environmental issues affecting the borough and are linked with the aims of 
Southwark 2016 (Community Strategy). The objectives will ensure that the 
AAP/OAPF benefits the environment, economy and the community.  

5.1.2. The 17 objectives set out below in Table 5.1 reflect the move towards 
integration of impact assessments for the AAP/OAPF; objectives and 
associated criteria questions can be linked to Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, the Equalities Analysis, and Health Impact Assessment. 

5.1.3. As the AAP/OAPF is progressed, the IIA will appraise policy options and site 
allocations against these objectives. The framework of objectives is set out in 
table 5.1. For the purposes of the framework, each decision appraised will be 
either the formation of strategic and development management policies within 
the AAP/OAPF, or the allocation of sites to a particular land-use or for other 
forms of spatial protection. 
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uncertainties noted. Where necessary, the appraisal commentary will also 
identify any potential cumulative effects for that option.   

5.4.6. IIA is an assessment tool that helps to inform decision-making, it is not the 
sole basis for a decision. The Council will consider the findings of the IIA 
alongside the wider evidence base to inform the development of policy as 
well as help to determine which of the reasonable options should be 
progressed through the AAP/OAPF. The IIA Report will clearly set out the 
reasons for the selection or rejection of options in plan-making. 

5.5. HEALTH IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

5.5.1. For the HIA element of the IIA the impacts on the population groups listed 
below will be considered, as recommended by Public Health England61: 

Black and minority ethnic people (incl. gypsy/travellers) 
Children and young people 
Women  
Men  
Older people  
Disabled people  
People with learning difficulties 
People with long term illness 
People in religious/faith groups 
Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people 
Communities in areas of disadvantage  
People with low income  
People who are unemployed 
People with mental health problems 
People with alcohol and other drug problems 
Homeless/street community 
Refugees and asylum seekers 
People involved in criminal justice system 
People who experienced domestic violence 
Carers 
Residents 
Workers 
Migrant workers 
Visitors 

5.6. EQUALITIES ANALYSIS 

5.6.1. For the EqIA element of the IIA the impacts on the protected characteristics 
listed below in Table 5.3 will be considered. 

5.6.2.  The Equality Act was introduced in October 2010. It replaces and extends 
all previous equality legislation into one overarching act. The Equality Act 
2010 outlines a number of “protected characteristics”, which are the groups 
of people or communities where the government feels that discrimination or 
unfair treatment could arise. The IIA will consider if there are any 
unintended consequences for some groups and if the policies will be fully 
effective for all target groups. 

61 http://www.nepho.org.uk/topics/Health%20Impact%20Assessment 
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 Improve social cohesion by promoting positive relationships and
a sense of community and belonging, by reducing fear and
tensions, and encouraging civic responsibility so that the
contributions individuals and groups make to their communities
are properly valued.

 Promote people’s rights and responsibilities. We will do this by
ensuring that the council does all it should in providing leadership
and by encouraging its partners to do likewise. We will act to
protect the rights of those who live in Southwark by ensuring that
abuse; mistreatment or discrimination is identified and dealt with.

 Ensuring we have a workforce that understands and is committed
to achieving these goals and retains the confidence of our local
communities.

5.7. HABITATS REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT 

5.7.1. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (as amended) 
(2010) [the Habitats Regulations] require that HRA is applied to all statutory 
land use plans in England and Wales. The aim of the HRA process is to 
assess the potential effects arising from a plan against the nature 
conservation objectives of any site designated for its nature conservation 
importance.  

5.7.2. The objective of the HRA screening process is to determine whether likely 
significant effects on designated Natura 2000 sites, either alone or in 
combination may result from the implementation of the AAP/OAPF. ‘Likely 
significant effect’ in this context is any effect that may reasonably be 
predicted as a consequence of the plans that may affect the conservation 
objectives of the features for which a site was designated.  

5.7.3. The information collated in the baseline information and from consultation 
on the scoping report will be mapped, reviewed and assessed against the 
draft policies and strategies of the AAP/OAPF to determine whether there is 
potential for the integrity of these sites to be affected.  Site integrity is 
defined as: 
“the coherence of its structure and function across its whole area that 
enables it to sustain the habitat, complex of habitats and/or the levels of 
populations of the species for which it was classified”  

5.7.4. The HRA of the AAP/OAPF will be undertaken alongside the IIA with the 
findings of the HRA informing the IIA. The methods and findings of the HRA 
process will be reported separately from the IIA and will be sent to the 
statutory consultee (Natural England) and placed on consultation for the 
wider public. 
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alternatives 
 Other alternatives considered and why

they were rejected
 Any proposed mitigation measures

Plan policy 
options 

 Significant sustainability effects of the
policies and proposals

 How sustainability problems were
considered in developing the policies
and proposals

 Proposed mitigation measures
 Uncertainties and risks

Implementation  Links to other tiers of plans and
programmes and the project level
(environmental impact assessment,
design guidance etc.)

 Proposals for monitoring

6.2. NEXT STEPS 

6.2.1. The next stage will be the generation of preferred options paper for the 
draft AAP/OAPF, based on the key issues identified during the scoping 
stage and the consultation on the Old Kent Road AAP/OAPF preparation 
and consultation throughout 2015/2016. These preferred options will then 
be assessed against the IAA framework as set out in Chapter 7.  The most 
sustainable options will form the basis of the draft AAP/OAPF, which will be 
assessed in detail through the IIA. 

6.2.2. There will be a five week consultation period for this scoping report up until 
Friday 18 March 2015.  Amendments will be made to this report to 
incorporate stakeholder feedback where appropriate. 

In responding to this consultation, please consider the following: 

Have the key issues for environment, health and equality been identified? 

Is the scope of the Integrated Impact Assessment considered to be adequate? 

Are the Integrated Impact Assessment objectives and indicators considered to be 
appropriate? 

Do you have access to any further baseline data or information that should be 
included within the baseline in Section 3 and Appendix 1? 
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Monitoring is used, where appropriate, during 
implementation of the plan or programme to make 
good deficiencies in baseline information in the 
SEA. 

To be reported in AMR if 
appropriate 

Monitoring enables unforeseen adverse effects to 
be identified at an early stage. (These effects may 
include predictions which prove to be incorrect.) 

To be reported in AMR if 
appropriate 

Proposals are made for action in response to 
significant adverse effects. 

To be reported in AMR if 
appropriate 

i United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (2009). Climate Change Science Compendium. Available at: 
http://www.unep.org/compendium2009/ 



1

Paul Robinson

From: Tina Jadav
Sent: 24 April 2017 11:52
To: Brianne Stolper
Subject: FW: Old Kent Road 
Attachments: TRANSCRIBED - Historic England OLD Kent Road AAP Response 1 11 16.docx

Categories: Very Important

From: McNab, Doug [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: 21 December 2016 16:51 
To: Tina Jadav 
Cc: 'Bird Edmund'; Edmund Bird; Cutts, Tim 
Subject: FW: Old Kent Road  

Hi Tina, 

I don’t know if the characterisation study and/or the place making study were shared directly with Historic England 
on publication but we have had a consultation response from them on the AAP (please see attached) which makes 
reference to the characterisation study so clearly they are aware of it.  

Best regards, 
Doug 

Planning Policy Team Leader 
5th Floor, Hub 2  
Southwark Council  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX  
Address for visitors: 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 
Tel: 020 7525 
www.southwark.gov.uk  

Register for a MySouthwark account and opt-in to our planning policy email updates or find out more 
information here 

From: Tina Jadav [mailto: london.gov.uk]  
Sent: Wednesday, December 21, 2016 2:12 PM 
To: McNab, Doug 
Cc: 'Bird Edmund'; Edmund Bird 
Subject: Old Kent Road  

Hi Doug 

Hope you are well. 

I just had a quick chat with Edmund about the heritage and characterisation work at OKR. We wondered 
whether any of this has been shared with Historic England? 

Best 





By email: planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk 

Fao Tim Cutts 
Team Leader  
Planning Policy Team 

Our ref: 
Your ref: 

Telephone 

PL00018375 

02079733717 

1 November 2016 
Dear  Mr Cutts 

Draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan Consultation 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the Draft Old Kent Road Area Action Plan.  

As the Government’s adviser on the historic environment Historic England is keen to ensure 
that the protection and enhancement of the historic environment is fully taken into account 
at all stages and levels of the Local Plan process. Accordingly Historic England welcomes the 
opportunity to comment on the above plan.   

We have reviewed the document against the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
its core planning principle  that, to achieve sustainable development, economic, social and 
environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the planning 
system (para 8). The historic environment is a relevant matter contributing to sustainable 
development, as identified in paragraph 7 of the NPPF. As such, heritage assets should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of this and future generations. In addition national policy 
requires local plans to set out an active, positive approach to the historic environment (paras 
126 and 157). The following comments are made in the context of the principles contained in 
the NPPF and the accompanying Planning Practice Guide (PPG). 

Summary of main considerations 

The Draft document sets out a vision for the AAP/OAPF and sets out three broad geographical 
character areas.  We are pleased to note that the document maps designated and 
undesignated heritage assets and set out policies for sustaining and enhancing heritage 
assets. We note the document has been prepared with reference to the English Heritage and 
Design for London studies and the characterisation study by Allies and Morrison/Urban 
Practitioners . However, in our view, the Draft AAP could be strengthened in a number of areas 

Historic England, 1 Waterhouse Square, 138-142 Holborn, London EC1N 2ST 
Telephone 020 7973 3700  Facsimile 020 7973 3001 

HistoricEngland.org.uk 
Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy. 

Correspondence or information which you send us may therefore become publicly available. 



in order to better provide a positive strategy for the historic environment. The main points for 
consideration are set out below and discussed in greater detail in the comment s on the text:  

AAP Policy 6 reflects NPPF policies 132 to 134 for assessing harm to heritage assets. However, 
the partial inclusion of NPPF Policy 141 places undue emphasis on the potential for 
demolition. The NPPF states that great weight should be given to a designated asset’s 
conservation. We would recommend that the wording of this policy is reviewed to better 
reflect the emphasis in the NPPF and present a “positive” strategy more consistent with NPPF 
Policies 131 and 132. 

We support the approach in retaining undesignated heritage assets of townscape merit, or 
the contribution which these buildings make to the townscape.  Whilst undesignated assets 
by their nature do not warrant the same protection as designated heritage assets it is clear 
that they have a strong role in defining the historic and local character within the AAP area. 
The wording in respect of AAP 6 would benefit from revision to clarify that proposals should 
be based on a clear understanding of their significance, including their contribution to the wider 
townscape.   

The document would benefit from clearly setting out a positive strategy in terms of  how 
under-utilised heritage assets, areas of historic character, and heritage landmarks are to be, 
not only integrated into the new townscape, but also how they will help inform and inspire 
the development of  a distinct local character and a strong sense of place. Allies and 
Morrison’s  Characterisation Study (2015)  identifies that although the area is proportionately 
low in designated heritage assets the conservation areas encompass some of the most 
attractive areas within the AAP and the best examples of historic realm. This underlines the 
potential for the historic environment to inform new development. 

The Character Areas are very broadly described but encompass a wider range of built 
character types.  The AAP would benefit from greater synthesis of the character analysis 
undertaken to help inform future development.   

Reflecting national policy and the need for Local Plans to identify where tall buildings would 
not be appropriate because of their adverse impact (para 157), Historic England Advice Note 4 
on Tall Buildings provides useful information on how to plan assess tall buildings.  w/ith this 
in mind  We must question whether sufficient understanding of the impacts of tall buildings 
has been undertaken to support the broad approach taken for the core area.   

The AAP refers to a place-making study to test capacity. It is not identified whether this 
assessed potential harm/impact on heritage assets, or whether capacity levels can be 
mitigated through design as suggested. In our view, additional investigation/clarification 
should be undertaken and shared to demonstrate the appropriateness of identified locations 
and a robust urban design framework to guide proposals should be set out, particularly if 
harmful impacts are to be avoided. This should include assessment of the impacts of taller 
buildings/development on heritage assets beyond the AAP/OAPF boundary. 

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



The details included in the proposal sites are brief and would benefit from expansion to better 
identify the constraints and opportunities at these sites (including maps illustrating the 
immediate context). 

Comments on text 

Page 26. 3.3 AAP 6. Policy 1 stating Proposals should follow a heritage-led regeneration 
approach which sustains, enhances and better reveals the significance of heritage assets and 
their settings is welcomed. 

AAP 6 Policy 2  in respect of  harm, seeks to reflect the NPPF Policies 133 and 134. However the 
wording of the policy is weak and places emphasis on the potential for harm and mitigation 
through recording. NPPF Policy 132 states that impact should be assessed against 
significance and that great weight should be given to an assets conservation, as heritage 
assets are irreplaceable. We would recommend the policy is rephrased to better reflect the 
balance of considerations , potentially making recording a separate policy requirement.  

AAP 6 Policy 3 “Retains buildings of townscape….is preserved”. We would recommend this 
policy is expanded to promote seeking opportunities for underutilised heritage assets to be 
brought into viable use or enhanced to contribute to the wider social and cultural 
environment.    

3.3.3 We would suggest that, as designated heritage assets, conservation areas should also be 
referenced. 

3.3.4 It would be helpful to articulate how the former Surrey Canal route might be better 
revealed, such as through restoring surviving features or reinstating access as a green route as 
set out in AAP8). 

3.3.5  We are pleased to note the identification for reinstating historic street patterns where 
appropriate. 

AAP 9. Building Blocks. In our view new blocks should be informed by both the positive 
aspects of their immediate and wider character area context. As such the Council may wish to 
consider enhanced design guidance for the different character areas. A finer grain and more 
contextual form of development will potentially result from the reintroduction of the historic 
or appropriate street pattern. 

The reference to an interesting and varied roofline needs to be qualified by the context. We 
would suggest that this is re-worded to encourage rooflines that compliment and reflect local 
character. Where a significant change in the existing context is appropriate blocks should 
introduce interesting and varied rooflines. You may wish to consider design guidance to help 
steer appropriate development. 

3.3.7  The reference to perimeter blocks as providing an historically appropriate form of 
development would benefit from illustration, as the mansion block is potentially only one 
form of historic development . 
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AAP10 Building Heights Strategy 
The policy indicating that tall buildings will be appropriate in the core areas has the potential 
to harm the setting of heritage assets. We would recommend greater assessment of the 
potential impacts on the historic environment through more clearly defined mapping of the 
core areas and an urban design framework which will ensure that sites are appropriately 
assessed in respect of the relative impacts of tall buildings. The failure to define upper limits 
will potentially give rise to potentially harmful impacts over a wide area. We would refer the 
Council to our advice on tall buildings   https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4/.   

3.3.8 The emphasis on the Old Kent Road as a “central London location, although accurate in 
SHLAA terms does not define how the character of the built environment should develop and 
a clear vision for the varying character areas would be beneficial. Central London character 
can encompass a wide variety of development forms and Old Kent Road needs to build on its 
local character.  

The development of a strong urban design framework is particularly important in 
underpinning a strong central spine around the main arterial routes where the opportunity to 
reinforce the legibility of the historic high streets through mending post war fragmentation 
should be seen as a major opportunity. In our view, the thread of historic significance and 
positive local character should be better identified and be a consistent thread to ensure that 
character is distinctive and contextual. 

3.3.9 There is no explanation as to why the “areas for transformation” are important locations. 
These appear to be defined simply by regularity rather than a need to provide areas of greater 
intensification. However it is assumed these correspond at least partly to particular 
commercial and transport nodes, alongside the proposed delivery of transport improvements 
which will generate opportunities.  

AAP 12 High Streets. Heritage assets play a significant part in defining the history and 
development of the Old Kent Road and the targeted repair and enhancement of historic 
terraces presents an important opportunity to reinforce the contribution made by these 
assets. This should form part of any heritage-led regeneration and we would welcome a 
commitment from the Council to introduce a positive strategy for historic shop fronts and 
repair alongside the delivery of new businesses. 

AAP 15 Arts, culture and leisure. The contribution heritage assets as local landmarks can make 
to cultural activity are well illustrated by the Thomas A Becket PH, page 48. We would suggest 
that this is explained in the caption. 

AAP 27 Delivering the Plan. We would welcome inclusion of a commitment to seek 
opportunities to address the current condition of the historic environment through public 
realm and heritage-led regeneration. 

4 Character Areas 
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4.1.1 We are pleased to note the concept of applying a sub area approach to the large AAP 
area. However the areas themselves comprise of areas of varied built character and the 
summaries of character appear relatively cursory. We welcome the identification of heritage 
assets in the included maps but it would be useful to state why these are important, their 
character and how the proposals will sustain and enhance these assets. The document would 
benefit from more detailed characterisation or reference to how character areas have been 
identified. The AAP has presumably been informed by Allies and Morrison’s Characterisation 
Study (2015) which takes a more nuanced approach to character and use and it would be 
helpful to bring this out in the AAP. It should also identify assets beyond the boundaries where 
these are potentially affected by development. 

AAP 29 We are pleased to note the identification of specific heritage assets in respect of 
sustaining and enhancing their significance. It would also be helpful to identify their 
contribution to character and enhancement opportunities in the text. 

AAP 29 Policy 4 in respect of World Heritage Sites, should better reflect policy. We would 
suggest this should say “Ensure that tall buildings at Bricklayers Arms preserve the ability to 
appreciate the outstanding universal value of the Palace of Westminster World Heritage Site, 
including its setting with notable views from the Serpentine Bridge in Hyde Park”.  

AAP 31 Central areas. We are pleased to note the identification of heritage assets for 
enhancement . However we would reiterate the benefits of drawing out more details of 
character in the text, to underpin why such assets make a positive contribution.  

AAP 33 South Area. We are pleased to note the identification of specific heritage assets in 
respect of sustaining and enhancing their significance. It would also be helpful to identify 
their contribution to character and enhancement opportunities in the text. Additionally the 
Gas Holders are identified in the characterisation report as an important local landmark 
which would benefit from inclusion in the text at 4.4.6. 

4.4.10  We are pleased to note the opportunity to repair gaps in the street frontages, however 
the statement that “tall buildings can help mark important areas”, leaves the identification of 
such areas open and does not provide guidance. This should be removed or caveated with a 
requirement to assess locations  to whether these are appropriate and if so, at what scale to 
avoid adverse impacts on the historic environment. 

Appendix 2 Design guide. This is welcome. However the area would benefit from the 
development of an Old Kent Road design framework which identifies and addresses the 
specific requirements of the varied character areas. 

 Conclusion 

We hope you find the above observations helpful and we would greatly value the opportunity 
to provide further advice and discuss the emerging guidance as it develops. If you wish to 
discuss any of the above issues please do not hesitate to contact me. 
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It must be noted that this advice does not affect our obligation to advise you on, and 
potentially object to any specific development proposal which may subsequently arise from 
this request and which may have adverse effects on the environment. We trust this advice is of 
assistance in the preparation of your guidance. 

Yours sincerely 

Richard Parish 
Historic Places Adviser 

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
Sent: 08 February 2017 12:05
To: Brianne Stolper
Subject: FW: New Southwark Plan: Area Visions and Site Allocations preferred option consultation

From: Southwark Council [mailto:Southwark-Council@public.govdelivery.com]  
Sent: 07 February 2017 17:57 
To: planningadmin 
Subject: New Southwark Plan: Area Visions and Site Allocations preferred option consultation 

Dear Sir or Madam 

I am writing to notify you that we are currently consulting on the following planning documents: 

New Southwark Plan: Area Visions and Site Allocations preferred option 

We are consulting on Part 2 of the New Southwark Preferred Option: Area Visions and Site 
Allocations between 6 February and 28 April 2017. This follows consultation on the New 
Southwark Plan Preferred Option Part 1 (Strategic and Development Management Policies)
between October 2015 and February 2016. When finalised, the New Southwark Plan will be the 
borough-wide planning and regeneration strategy up to 2033. 

See how to get involved in the consultation below. 

View and download the area visions and site allocations document on our website here. You can 
also find the supporting documents including our consultation plan, consultation report and
integrated impact assessment, which includes an equalities analysis. 

Find the area vision and sites you’re interested in and leave us feedback on our online consultation 
hub. 

We are open to invitations to discuss the plan with local groups during the consultation period.
Please get in touch using the contact details below. 

Area Visions 

Area Visions provide the strategic vision for the future of Southwark’s distinct places and 
neighbourhoods. They set out key infrastructure enhancements, opportunities for public realm and
transport improvements and growth opportunities for new homes and jobs. Area Visions also
identify the prevailing character of different places to be renewed, retained or enhanced.
Development proposals should be designed in the context of the relevant Area Vision and should
demonstrate how they contribute towards realising the strategic vision for that area. 

We are consulting on Area Visions for: 

 Bankside and The Borough
 Bermondsey
 Blackfriars Road
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 Camberwell
 Dulwich
 East Dulwich
 Elephant and Castle
 Herne Hill and North Dulwich
 London Bridge
 Nunhead
 Old Kent Road
 Peckham
 Rotherhithe
 Walworth

Site allocations 

Site Allocations are planning policies which apply to key potential development sites. Site
Allocations set out the land uses that must be provided as part of any redevelopment alongside
other acceptable land uses that may be provided in addition to the required land uses. For 
example, Site Allocations may specify that development must provide new public open space, new
public access routes, and new health or education facilities. 

Note on Old Kent Road Area Vision 

The detailed Area Vision for the Old Kent Road is being prepared separately through an Area 
Action Plan (AAP). The Area Vision contained in this New Southwark Plan consultation is based on
the vision and detailed proposals presented in the AAP Preferred Option Version which was 
consulted on from June to November 2016. The Council will consider all consultation responses
which were received in this previous stage of the AAP consultation in preparing an updated vision.
As such, it is not necessary to resubmit any comments which have been made in respect of the
Old Kent Road AAP Preferred Option consultation. 

How to comment on the area visions and site allocations 

Comments can be made in writing or via email and sent to the following addresses below. You can also 
leave comments on our online consultation hub page here: https://consultations.southwark.gov.uk/planning-
and-regeneration/new-southwark-plan/  

Email: planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk. 

Post:    FREEPOST SE1919/14 

New Southwark Plan 

Planning Policy 

Chief Executive’s Department 

London SE1P 5EX 

If you have any queries about this document, please contact the Planning Policy team on 020 7525 5471 or
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by email at planningpolicy@southwark.gov.uk 

Yours faithfully 

Juliet Seymour 

Planning Policy Manager 

Locations to view documents 

As well as viewing the draft Area Visions and Site Allocations document online, you will be able to find 
copies of the document at the council offices at 160 Tooley Street, SE1 and in all local libraries and
MySouthwark Service Points from early next week (commencing 13 February). See below for full details.  

Southwark Council, 160 Tooley Street, London, SE1 2QH 

Libraries (Opening times listed individually below) 

 Blue Anchor Library: Market Place, Southwark Park Road, SE16 3UQ (Monday;
Tuesday & Thursday 09:00 – 19:00, Friday 10:00 – 18:00, Saturday 09:00 –
17:00)

 Brandon Library: Maddock Way, Cooks Road, SE17 3NH (Monday, Tuesday &
Thursday 14:00 – 17:00, Friday 10:00 – 15:00, Saturday 10:00 – 17:00)

 Camberwell Library: 48 Camberwell Green, SE5 7AL (Monday – Friday 09:00 –
20:00, Saturday 09:00 – 17:00, Sunday 12:00 – 16:00)

 Canada Water Library: 21 Surrey Quays Road, SE16 7AR (Monday – Friday
09:00 – 20:00, Saturday 09:00 - 17:00, Sunday 12:00- 16:00)

 Dulwich Library: 368 Lordship Lane, SE22 8NB (Monday, Wednesday,
Thursday & Friday 09:00 – 20:00, Tuesday 10:00 – 20:00, Saturday 09:00 –
17:00, Sunday 12:00 – 16:00)

 East Street Library: 168-170 Old Kent Road, SE1 5TY (Monday, Tuesday & Friday
14:00 – 19:00, Saturday 10:00 – 17:00)

 Grove Vale Library: 25-27 Grove Vale, SE22 8EQ (Monday, Tuesday &
Thursday 14:00 – 17:00, Friday 10:00 – 15:00, Saturday 10:00 – 17:00)

 John Harvard Library: 211 Borough High Street, SE1 1JA (Monday – Friday
09:00 – 19:00, Saturday 09:00 – 17:00, Sunday 12:00 - 16:00)

 Kingswood Library: Seeley Drive, SE21 8QR (Monday – Friday 10:00 – 14:00,
Tuesday & Friday 14:00 – 18:00, Saturday 13:00 – 17:00)

 Newington Temporary Library: Elephant Artworks – Second Floor, Elephant
Road, SE17 1LB (Monday - Friday 09:00 – 20:00, Saturday 09:00 – 17:00,
Sunday 12:00 – 16:00)

 Nunhead Library: Gordon Road, SE15 3RW Monday, Tuesday & Thursday
14:00 – 19:00, Wednesday 10:00 – 15:00, Friday 10:00 – 15:00, Saturday 10:00 –
17:00)

 Peckham Library: 122 Peckham Hill Street, SE15 5JR (Monday, Tuesday,
Thursday & Friday 09:00 – 20:00, Wednesday 10:00 – 20:00, Saturday 10:00 –
17:00, Sunday 12:00 – 16:00)
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MySouthwark Service Points (Open Monday – Friday 09:00 – 17:00) 

 Peckham MySouthark Service Point – 122 Peckham Hill Street, SE15 5JR
 Walworth MySouthwark Service Point – 376 Walworth Road, SE17 2NG

Update your subscriptions or email address, or stop subscriptions at any time by logging into your 
MySouthwark account. 
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Paul Robinson

From: Lyndon Fothergill
Sent: 03 March 2017 11:42
To: 'Cutts, Tim'
Subject: RE: LDS

Thanks for the insight – I had thought it was a LBS document, but now appreciate it’s not and better understand its 
purpose. 

Happy therefore to offer quick comments on the draft SPD if thought helpful in due course. 

My only follow up would be around the Town Centre designation – as still not convinced it should extend over the new 
park or if park side cafes would justify such a designation. Also, am mindful of our formal response the draft AAP/OAPF 
which suggested a more focussed approach – based either on the “high street” or around each of the new possible tube 
stations. Also of course, the OKR isn’t within CAZ – hence not sure the approach followed there, would logically apply 
here. 

The joy of planning… 

Lyndon Fothergill
Principal Strategic Planner
Greater London Authority
City Hall, The Queen's Walk, London SE1 2AA
Tel: 020 7983 
Email: london.gov.uk

From: Cutts, Tim [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: Thursday, March 02, 2017 1:32 PM 
To: Lyndon Fothergill 
Subject: RE: LDS 

Hi Lyndon 

Please see comments below. Happy to discuss these further when we next meet (Tina has suggested we meet to 
talk about the GLA comments, which could be a good opportunity). We are still have lively internal debates about 
some of the issues you raise. 

Tim 

From: Lyndon Fothergill [mailto: london.gov.uk]  
Sent: Thursday, March 02, 2017 12:18 PM 
To: Cutts, Tim 
Subject: RE: LDS 

Hi Tim. Thanks for sending this – which is very helpful in helping me understand Southwark’s ambitions for this area. 

Couple of questions and observations though if I may. 

Has it been/can it be shared with our Regen team (Tina) and TfL – as obviously the OKR crossing will have significant 
implications for TfL.  

Tina saw a draft. I’ll send the final version over to her. 

TfL: the LDS reflects the assumptions made by TfL/Allies & Morrison/SDG in their surface transport study ie that there 
is no scope to introduce a new crossing point between Peckham Park Road and St James’s Road because of impacts on 
junction capacity. Therefore any crossing needs to be integrated into either the signalised junction with St James’s Road 
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or Peckham Park Road. The surface transport study assumes it will be the former and the LDS reaches the same 
conclusion. I have cut and pasted below the concept drawing from TfL’s surface transport study. 

I assume it’s still draft, and if so is there a programme yet and is there any opportunity to input before it is formally 
consulted on ? 

Consultation – We are treating it very much as an evidence base document. It was paid for by the landowners and 
the consultation to date has mainly been with them. We are planning to use it to inform a draft SPD to be published 
in April. That will be an opportunity to consult more widely on the principles set out. In the meantime we will 
publish it shortly on our website and it will sit alongside the other evidence base documents such as the 
Characterisation study, Placemaking study etc. 

Either way, I would offer the following thoughts: 

The new street layouts and urban structure looks sound and sensible and will provide useful clarity about where the new 
linear park will  be. It doesn’t however suggest what might be an acceptable and appropriate scale and form of 
development across its different “zones” which I think might be very useful to guide developers – not least if the 
meeting I came to about is typical. It might also usefully define what for example an “employment character area” might 
look and feel like 

Scale – We tried to focus our efforts in the LDS on those aspects on which we could agree a position fairly speedily 
with the landowners who were funding the work (because some developers are already in pre‐app we committed to 
doing the work very quickly). Within the LDS we set out the zones in which we envisage the tallest buildings of 20 
storeys plus. In other areas, we set out the potential for a street‐based development typology with buildings of 
should heights up to around 8 storeys, but with potential for taller elements within each block. On the OKR itself we 
have been firm on establishing a shoulder height up to about 8 storeys, with exceptions set out in the AAP/LDS (the 
junction with Ilderton Road, the junction with Peckham park Road and St James Road, the Tesco site and 
Bricklayers). The model we were following very broadly was the Elephant Park type scenario ie perimeter blocks 
with a taller element within each block. The level of detail in the LDS is about the same level of detail that we set out 
in other SPDs eg for Elephant and castle or Blackfriars Road. We are reviewing whether we need to be more 
prescriptive in the SPD – eg the LDS establishes the potential for a very tall building at the junction with Peckham 
Park Road. Should we be very prescriptive that it is only one very tall building on the site, rather than two. 
Historically we have used our policy criteria about articulating tall buildings, avoiding the appearance of a wall of 
buildings etc to manage that kind of issue.   

Employment  ‐ the LDS refers to the full gamut of employment uses. We are looking in the SPD to provide more 
detail on the kinds of uses we envisage.  
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It also shows potential town centre uses extending along and overlaying the proposed new park but not extending into 
the “improved high street”. Might it be better to focus town centre uses on the Old Kent Road, and extend the town 
centre zone to include the retail cluster at the top of Peckham Park Road and exclude the park from this designation - 
whilst still promoting (the not necessarily town centre) residential, employment and community uses on either side of it. 
This would then reinforce the retail function of the OKR and start to define its potential Town Centre boundary – or is it 
Southwark’s intention to extend the new (local/district ?) town centre boundary that far west ? 

All the landowners thought there was an opportunity to have some retail use on the north side of the linear park, 
where it will benefit from south facing aspect etc. The Malt Street site has some retail space incorporated into it. It 
will need to be a balancing act – some space will help enliven the park but equally we don’t want empty units or to 
detract from the aspiration to reinforce the OKR. From discussions with landowners they envisage larger units which 
might be expected to attract more footfall on the OKR – small supermarkets etc and the odd café on the linear park 
for park users or people living around.  

We are having some internal discussions about the extent of the town centre. The AAP proposes to extend the 
approach we follow with other areas in the CAZ in Southwark which is to designate the whole area as the town 
centre and then use the retail policy to focus growth and certainly the uses which will attract more trips onto the 
OKR.  

Finally, it refers to moving to a position that the new park would not have vehicles crossing it. Surely the aim should be 
to not have vehicles (other than emergency vehicles) entering it, as this could seriously undermine its function, quality 
and the safety of its users. This might also reinforce the need for servicing to be designed around streets, rather than 
from the park. 

I agree. That is what is meant, although “entering” might be more specific. The developers were in agreement that 
to have no vehicles entering or crossing the park should be the long term objective. As an interim measure it may be 
necessary, simply because it is not possible to access all the blocks without all the site being developed in its entirety 
eg access to some of the Malt Street blocks from the north would be reliant on a connection through the Cantium 
retail park or through Asda and can only be delivered once those sites are redeveloped.  

Just a few quick thoughts and happy to chat through if helpful. 

PS is there anything similar for OKR 16 ? 

I’ll send it across. 

Lyndon Fothergill
Principal Strategic Planner
Greater London Authority
City Hall, The Queen's Walk, London SE1 2AA
Tel: 020 7983 
Email: london.gov.uk

From: Cutts, Tim [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 28, 2017 4:52 PM 
Subject: LDS 

R              m      m  
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This email has been securely sent to you by 
Southwark Council using Egress Switch. 

R     
      
   

m     
 m  

Click to access the secure file online. 
This free service is provided by 
Southwark Council and enables you 
to communicate securely. 

If you have Switch installed, simply 
open the attachment. 

Regular user? Download our free 
desktop or mobile apps. 

Having problems accessing the file? 
Click here 

Confidentiality Notice: This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed. If 
you have received this email in error please notify the sender. 

© Copyright 2007‐2015 Egress Software Technologies Ltd. 

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
Sent: Monday, March 06, 2017 12:42 PM 
To: 'McNab, Doug'; Tina Jadav 
Cc: Cutts, Tim; Brianne Stolper; Seymour, Juliet; Colin Wilson 
Subject: RE: Old Kent Road AAP 

Hi. Have managed to book Meeting Room C from 11.30 – 12.30. 

Hopefully this works and we can meet then. 

Shall I pull together 4-5 key issues as a possible agenda ? 

Lyndon Fothergill
Principal Strategic Planner
Greater London Authority
City Hall, The Queen's Walk, London SE1 2AA
Tel: 020 7983 
Email: london.gov.uk

From: McNab, Doug [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: Friday, March 03, 2017 4:17 PM 
To: Lyndon Fothergill; Tina Jadav 
Cc: Cutts, Tim; Brianne Stolper; Seymour, Juliet 
Subject: RE: Old Kent Road AAP 

Hi Lyndon, 

A meeting on 20th March before or after the WG meeting would work for us. Perhaps we could say 11pm at the LFB 
building, if you were able to book a room there so that we could go straight on to the WG meeting afterwards? 

Thanks, 
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
Sent: Thursday, March 02, 2017 6:56 PM 
To: McNab, Doug; Tina Jadav 
Cc: Cutts, Tim; Brianne Stolper; Seymour, Juliet 
Subject: RE: Old Kent Road AAP 

Hi. I mentioned this to my line manager Colin Wilson, who would also like to come along, and the only 1 of the 3 slots 
we could both do would be the 20th of March – where it looks like most of you/us are at anyway. Hence, could we 
arrange something at, before or after this meeting ? 

Lyndon Fothergill
Principal Strategic Planner
Greater London Authority
City Hall, The Queen's Walk, London SE1 2AA
Tel: 020 7983 
Email: london gov uk

From: McNab, Doug [mailto: southwark.gov.uk]  
Sent: Thursday, March 02, 2017 5:30 PM 
To: Tina Jadav 
Cc: Cutts, Tim; Lyndon Fothergill; Brianne Stolper; Seymour, Juliet 
Subject: RE: Old Kent Road AAP 

Hi Tina, 

Thanks for the email, we are having some internal discussions on some of these issues now so this is very timely. A 
meeting would be useful, please could you let me know your availability on Monday 13th March, Monday 20th March 
or Wednesday 22nd March? 

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



3

Register for a MySouthwark account and opt-in to our planning policy email updates or find out more 
information here 

From: Tina Jadav [mailto: london.gov.uk]  
Sent: Tuesday, February 28, 2017 4:42 PM 
To: McNab, Doug 
Cc: Cutts, Tim; Lyndon Fothergill; Brianne Stolper 
Subject: Old Kent Road AAP 

Hello Doug 

Hope you are well. 

I met with Lyndon and Brianne today and we thought it might be helpful to hold a meeting to catch up on the 
AAP. Specifically, it would be good to hear about the consultation and Southwark’s feedback to the GLA letter 
we issued in response to the draft AAP. 

We think it might be helpful to discuss the programme and the items raised in the letter including Town centres, 
infrastructure, CAZ and employment strategy (the latter myself and Paul Harper are briefed on)  

Let me know and I will send through a few dates 

All the best 

Tina 

Tina Jadav 

REGENERATION TEAM 
Greater London Authority 

City Hall, The Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
www london gov uk 

Sign up to the Regeneration Newsletter 




